

National Library of Canada

**Canadian Theses Service** 

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Service des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

# NOTICE

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments.

# AVIS

La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylograpniées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.

.

# UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

# AN INVESTIGATION OF STUDENT USE OF

## THE SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS LIST

# AT ATHABASCA UNIVERSITY

ΒY

(n)

STEVEN ALLEN SCHAFER

# A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF LIBRARY AND INFORMATION STUDIES

# FACULTY OF LIBRARY AND INFORMATION STUDIES

EDMONTON, ALBERTA FALL 1991



National Library of Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Service des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

> The author has granted an irrevocable nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

> The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-70228-1



# UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

# **RELEASE FORM**

# NAME OF AUTHOR: STEVEN ALLEN SCHAFER

TITLE OF THESIS: AN INVESTIGATION OF STUDENT USE OF THE SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS LIST AT ATHABASCA UNIVERSITY

DEGREE: MASTER OF LIBRARY AND INFORMATION STUDIES

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: 1991

PERMISSION IS HEREBY GRANTED TO THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY TO REPRODUCE SINGLE COPIES OF THIS THESIS AND TO LEND OR SELL SUCH COPIES FOR PRIVATE, SCHOLARLY, OR SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH PURPOSES ONLY.

THE AUTHOR RESERVES OTHER PUBLICATION RIGHTS, AND NEITHER THE THESIS NOR EXTENSIVE EXTRACTS FROM IT MAY BE PRINTED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED WITHOUT THE AUTHOR'S WRITTEN PERMISSION.

Steve Schafer Box 1326 Athabasca, AB TOG 0B0

DATE: 04 October 1991

### UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

# FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

### THE UNDERSIGNED CERTIFY THAT THEY HAVE READ, AND

RECOMMEND TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH FOR ACCEPTANCE, A THESIS ENTITLED: AN INVESTIGATION OF STUDENT USE OF THE SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS LIST AT ATHABASCA UNIVERSITY

SUBMITTED BY: STEVEN ALLEN SCHAFER

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF LIBRARY AND INFORMATION STUDIES

Ma Schrad

Dr. Alvin M. Schrader Faculty of Library and Information Studies

Dr. Robert E. Brundin Faculty of Library and Information Studies

Walter archer

Dr. E. Walter Archer Faculty of Extension

DATE: 27 SEPTEMBER 1991

### Abstract

Distance education is a rapidly growing mode of both offering and attaining a university education. Athabasca University is an open university, with 18,000 students, that offers instruction at a distance. Currently, 200 courses are offered through three faculties, leading to five undergraduate degrees and six university certificate programs.

This thesis presents the findings of a mail survey that was conducted of a simple random sample of active students at Athabasca University to investigate student use of the supplementary materials list.

Major findings indicate that 87% of the respondents to the survey were aware that Athabasca University provides library service to its students and only 21% actually used library materials to complete the course or courses they were taking. Of the students who used library materials, 65% indicated that their course had a supplementary materials list.

With respect to future provision of library services to Athabasca University students, 64% of all the respondents indicated that they either own or have access to a computer and commented that they want to have remote access to the library catalog to search the holdings for themselves.

It is concluded that more attention should be given by Athabasca University Library and course development teams to the compilation of the supplementary materials list and that remote access by students to the library catalog should be implemented.

# Acknowledgements

The contributions of the following individuals are gratefully acknowledged.

Without the expertise and assistance of Lloydene Eherer, Richard Hotchkis, and Lynda Ross, the preparation of this study would have been less than expedient.

For his unwavering encouragement, guidance, and support through the preparation of this thesis, I wish to thank my thesis supervisor, Dr. Alvin Schrader. For their willingness to serve on my committee and for their constructive suggestions which helped to refine this thesis, I would like to express my thanks to Dr. Robert Brundin and Dr. Walter Archer. For her assistance and interest in this study, I would like to thank Dr. Anna Altmann.

Special thanks are extended to my running buddies, most of whom have completed the thesis process and gave encouragement. Thanks, Tony, for your admonition: "whatever you do, don't quit running."

Finally, without the encouragement, understanding, and support of my wife and friend, Carol, this effort would have been impossible. To Alison and Carson, J hope we can recover some of the lost time during your infancy and early childhood while working through this program.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter	Page
I. Introduction	1
I. Introduction Distance Education	1
Athabasca University	4
Library Services Provided by Athabasca University	5
Statement of the Problem	7
Definition of Key Terms	10
Limitations of the Study	11
II. Review of the Literature	12
The Search Strategy	12
The Literature	12
III. Research Methodology	19
Pilot Study	19
Approvals and Ethical Review Requirements	20
Population and Sample	20
Survey Instrument	21
Protect of the Survey Instrument	22
The Survey	23
Analysis of the Data	24
IV. Findings	25
Characteristics of Active Athabasca University Students	25
Student Awareness and Use of Library Materials	31
Student Awareness and Use of the Supplementary Materials List	39
Student Awareness and Use of Computers	43
Summary of Findings	46
V. Discussion	47
Athabasca University Library	47
Course Development Teams at Athabasca University	49
Distance Education Librarianship	50
Bibliography	52
Appendix 1: Questionnaire Used for the Pilot Study	55
Appendix 2: Covering Letter to Pretest Participants	20
Appendix 3: Covering Letter to Participants of the Survey	57
Appendix 4: Version of Survey Ouestionnaire Sent to New Students	58
Appendix 5: Version of Survey Questionnaire Sent to Continuing Students	62
Appendix 6: Coding Structure for the Questionnaire	. 00
Appendix 7: Coding Structure for Open Comments	. 12
Appendix 8: Registrations in Specific Courses Identified by Respondents	. 14
Appendix 9: Student Use of Library Materials by Academic Discipline	. 75
Appendix 10: Courses with a Supplementary Materials List (SML)	. 76
and Student Recognition of the SML	. 70

# List of Tables

Table	Page
1. Active Students — March 1991	23
2. Characteristics of Student Respondents	26
3. Student Enrolment Characteristics	28
4. Course Registrations of Respondents Grouped by Academic Discipline	29
5. Course Registrations of Respondents Grouped by Faculty of Study	30
6. Student Use of Library Materials	31
7. Student Use of Library Materials by Academic Discipline	32
8. Student Use of Library Materials on the Basis of Course, Grouped by Faculty	33
9. Type of Library Materials Used	34
10. Type of Library USA	35
11. Type of Selection of Materials Made by Library Users	35
12. Type of Request Made by Students Who Used Athabasca University Library	36
13. Requests for Library Materials by Students Who Used Athabasca University Library	37
14. Student Satisfaction with Library Materials Received from Athabasca University Library.	37
15. Courses Having a Supplementary Materials List, Grouped by Faculty Offering the Course	40
16. Library Users Recognizing Supplementary Materials List, Grouped by Faculty Offering the Course	40
17. Student Access to Computer and Modem	44

#### Chapter I

#### Introduction

## **Distance Education**

The purpose of this thesis is to investigate student use of the supplementary materials list that is included in the home-study package for most Athabasca University courses. At the outset of this study, it is important to have a basic level of understanding of distance education, Athabasca University, and the provision of library services to Athabasca University students.

Distance education is a growing and expanding mode of attaining an education, particularly at the post-secondary level. Distance education implies that the teacher and student are separated by physical space (distance) and usually, though not always, by time. With the use of audio/video teleconferencing and various modes of communications, the separation of teacher and student by time may be minimal to nonexistent. Distance education, however, usually means that the teacher and student are not face to face.

Leading theorists in the field have provided definitions of distance education, although a single definition has not been agreed upon. Desmond Keegan describes distance education as follows:

Distance education is a generic term that includes the range of teaching/learning strategies referred to as "correspondence education" or "correspondence study" at further education level in the United Kingdom; as "home study" at further education level and "independent study" at higher education level in the United States; as "external studies" in Australia; and as "distance teaching" or "teaching at a distance" by the Open University of the United Kingdom (Keegan, 1990, p. 29).

The synonymous terras such as correspondence education, correspondence study, home study, independent study, external studies, distance teaching, or teaching at a distance, it must be pointed out, are subsets of distance education.

A definition of distance education must include the elements of teaching and learning. Distance teaching is the responsibility of the educational institution and/or the instructor, and distance learning is the responsibility of the student. Keegan suggests that distance teaching and distance learning are terms that must be included in the description of distance education. However, each term only describes one-half of the process that must occur for education to take place.

'Distance teaching' indicates clearly the process of course development by which a distance institution prepares learning materials for students. In the same way wide currency has been given to the term 'distance learning' or 'learning at a distance' for the process as seen from the student's perspective (Keegan, 1990, p. 32).

Distance education provides opportunities to use various instructional methods, multi-media

processes, and educational strategies. The educational institution is challenged to bridge the distance

between the teacher and the learner.

Significant definitions of distance education, included in Keegan's work, Foundations of Distance

Education (2nd ed.), and which may be found in other sources, are listed here for the purpose of

understanding more fully the concept of distance education.

G. Dohmen of the German Distance Education Institute, Tubingen, Germany, 1967, provides this

definition:

Distance education is a systematically organised form of self-study in which student counselling, the presentation of learning material and the securing and supervising of students' success is carried out by a team of teachers, each of whom has responsibilities. It is made possible at a distance by means of media which can cover long distances. The opposite of 'distance education' is 'direct education' or face-to-face education: a type of education that takes place with direct contact between lecturers and students (Keegan, 1990, p. 36).

O. Peters, 1973, suggests this definition:

Distance teaching/education is a method of imparting knowledge, skills and attitudes which is rationalised by the application of division of labour and organisational principles as well as by the extensive use of technical media, especially for the purpose of reproducing high quality teaching material which makes it possible to instruct great numbers of students at the same time wherever they live. It is an industrialized form of teaching and learning (Kcegan, 1990, p. 37).

M. Moore, 1973, provides the following definition that also suggests that new technologies must be

incorporated into the teaching/learning process.

Distance teaching may be defined as the family of instructional methods in which the teaching behaviors are executed apart from the learning behaviors, including those that in a contiguous situation would be performed in the learner's presence, so that communication between the teacher and the learner must be facilitated by print, electronic, mechanical or other devices (Keegan, 1990, p. 37).

B. Holmberg, 1977, provides the following definition of distance education.

The term 'distance education' covers the various forms of study at all levels which are not under the continuous, immediate supervision of tutors present with their students in lecture rooms or on the same premises, but which, nevertheless, benefit from the planning, guidance and tuition of a tutorial organisation (Keegan, 1990, p. 38).

These definitions identify some of the significant components of distance education: separation of the teacher and learner, use of technology in the teaching/learning process, and organisation and planning by the educational institution.

Keegan provides a fuller list of six basic elements that are essential to define, describe, and fully understand distance education. They are as follows:

- (1) the separation of teacher and learner which distinguishes it from face-to-face lecturing;
- (2) the influence of an educational organization which distinguishes it from private study;
- the use of technical media, usually print, to unite teacher and learner and carry the educational content;
- the provision of two-way communication so that the student may benefit from or even initiate dialogue;
- (5) the possibility of occasional meetings for both didactic and socialization purposes; and
- (6) the participation in an industrialized form of education, which, if accepted, contains the genus of radical separation of distance education from other forms within the educational spectrum (Keegan, 1990, pp. 38-39).

Keegan's description of distance education has been both widely accepted and criticized. D. Randy Garrison, for example, suggests that "Keegan's definition is surprisingly narrow" and that there is a dilemma in defining distance education with such precision that still allows for new perspectives to be accomdated (Garrison, 1989, p. 5). Garrison and Doug Shale suggest three criteria with which to evaluate the process of distance education. They are as follows:

- (1) Distance education implies that the majority of educational communication between (among) teacher and student(s) occurs noncontiguously.
- (2) Distance education must involve two-way communication between (among) teacher and student(s) for the purpose of facilitating and supporting the educational process.

(3) Distance education uses technology to mediate the necessary two-way communication (Garrison, 1989, p. 6).

Distance education, according to Garrison, is "a species of education" that has emerged and is continually concerned with how to most efficiently adopt new technologies to faciliate the educational process (Garrison, 1989, p. 8).

### Athabasca University

Athabasca University specializes in the delivery of university-level courses through various modes of course delivery. Unlike a dual-mode open university, which is "a regular campus-based institution with a distance education component," Athabasca University is a single-mode open university "devoted exclusively to distance education" (Konrad and Small, 1989, in Sweet, p. 197).

A mission statement and long-term plan were adopted by Athabasca University in May 1985. The *Mission Statement* describes the purpose of Athabasca University and provides a context for the University's activities.

Athabasca University is dedicated to the removal of barriers that traditionally restrict access to and success in university-level studies and to increasing equality of educational opportunity for all adult Canadians regardless of their geographical location and prior academic credentials. (Athabasca University, 1985, p. 1).

A person must meet two requirements before being accepted for studies at Athabasca University. Individuals must be at least 18 years of age and be residents of Canada. Students who are admitted to Athabasca University may take courses available through one of the three faculties: Administrative Studies, Arts, or Science. Courses may be taken for general interest or for the accumulation of credits leading to one of five degree programs: Bachelor of Administration, Bachelor of Arts, Bachelor of Commerce, Bachelor of General Studies, or Bachelor of Nursing (post-R.N.). In addition to the degree programs, students may take courses leading to one of six university certificate programs: University Certificate in Accounting, University Certificate in Administration, University Certificate in French Language Proficiency, University Certificate in Information Systems, University Certificate in Labour Relations, or University Certificate in Public Administration. In addition, a selection of non-credit course is offered.

The home-study package is the primary mode of course delivery at Athabasca University. However, courses may also be supported by teleconference, seminar, laboratory, or field work. Upon registration, each student receives a complete course package that consists of all required texts, a student manual, a forms package, and a study guide which usually includes a supplementary materials list. Occasionally, a book of readings, consisting of required, selected articles from various sources that are reproduced by Athabasca University, is included in the course package. Some course packages may contain pieces of computer software and/or instructions on how to access the Athabasca University computing services for the purposes of completing their course requirements. Upon registration, each student is assigned a telephone tutor and has access to library services.

# Library Services Provided by Athabasca University

It is believed, as identified in the definitions of distance education, that for effective education to take place, appropriate planning and organization for the use of various media must be done. Library services, therefore, are among the essential supporting mechanisms in place since the inception of Athabasca University. The provision of library services to students of Athabasca University is both unique and complex. Students who reside "at a distance" from the institution at various locations across Canada must be served by the Library in radically different ways from those provided by traditional university libraries.

Upon enrolment in a course with Athabasca University, each student has access to library services by Athabasca University Library. Athabasca University students can submit their requests for library materials by mail, FAX, telephone, or in-person. The *Library Annual Report, 1989/90* reveals that 8,138 requests were received at the library information desk during the fiscal year.

Of all requests, almost half (4,116) were from students. On average, students made 343 requests for library materials per month to Athabasca University Library. Euring this report year, 9,559 items were circulated to students in response to their inquiries. Library materials are sent to the student either by postal service to the student's address, by inter-office courier to one of three Athabasca University Learning Centres in Alberta, or by government consect to reaction government office locations within Alberta.

One of the difficulties of providing library services to Athabasca University students is that of making students aware of materials in the library collection that would be helpful for completing a course assignment or project. While an on-line library catalog, AUCAT, was installed in 1989 and is operational at all Athabasca University locations, provision is not yet in place for remote access by students other than from the Learning Centres which are located in Calgary, Edmonton, and Fort McMurray. However, even if remote access were available, only those students with computer hardware and communication packages would be able to use the on-line catalog. Nonetheless, the Library plans to provide remote access to AUCAT at some point in the future.

One useful instrument for informing all students of what materials in the Athabasca University Library are available for a specific course is the supplementary materials list that forms a part of the package for each course. The term "supplementary materials" refers to materials suggested by Athabasca University instructors for extra reading, listening, or viewing that would aid an understanding of the course materials. The purpose of the supplementary materials list is to provide, for the student of a particular course, a list of materials in the Athabasca University Library's collection that would be useful, but not essential, for completing a course assignment or project. Supplementary materials are additional to the required materials that are included in the complete home-study package for each course.

The supplementary materials list is compiled by a course team that primarily comprises a subject matter expert (author), a course team manager, an editor, and a visual designer. However, it is usually the subject matter expert and the editor who compile the supplementary materials list, and library reference staff are often called upon to participate.

#### Statement of the Problem

The primary objective of this study is to investigate student use of the supplementary materials list that forms a part of the package for most Athabasca University courses. The overall research question is: Do Athabasca University students use the supplementary materials list? Data were also gathered to determine: (1) selected characteristics of Athabasca University students; (2) student awareness and use of library materials; (3) among students who are library users, their awareness and use of the supplementary materials list; and, (4) among all students, their awareness and use of computers. The questions that were investigated within each of these clusters were as follows:

# (1) Selected Characteristics of Athabasca University Students

- 1. Age of student.
- 2. Gender of student.
- 3. Previous education attained.
- 4. Faculty in which the student is enrolled.
- 5. Specific course in which the student is enrolled.
- 6. The number of Athabasca University courses in which the student is currently enrolled.
- 7. The number of Athabasca University courses the student has successfully completed.

# (2) Student Awareness of the Library and Library Materials

- 1. Do students use library materials to complete Athabasca University courses?
- 2. If so, did they use Athabasca University Library and/or other libraries?
- 3. If so, what types of library materials do students request?

4. How do students rate their satisfaction with the library materials and services received through Athabasca University?

5. If not, are students aware that library materials are available to them?

6. Do students know the procedure for requesting library materials from Athabasca University Library?

(3) Student Awareness of the Supplementary Materials List

1. Are students who use library materials aware that there is a supplementary materials list included in the course materials package?

2. Do students consult the supplementary materials list before requesting library materials from the Athabasca University Library?

3. With what frequency do students consult the supplementary materials list?

4. Does student use of the supplementary materials list vary with the course the student is taking or the program in which the student is enrolled?

5. Do students prefer to select specific material from the supplementary materials list or request material on the basis of the subject of the assignment, leaving selection of material up to the library staff and availability of material?

6. Do students obtain, from other libraries, material identified on the supplementary materials list?

7. Do students think the supplementary materials list is an essential component of the course package?

8. How do students evaluate the supplementary materials list as an effective means of identifying library materials needed for completing a course assignment or project?

9. What would make the supplementary materials list more useful to students?

10. What are the reasons students do not use the supplementary materials list?

11. Do students who do not use the supplementary materials list use materials other than those provided in the course package for completing course assignments?

12. What would make the supplementary materials list more useful? Given access to AUCAT, the on-line library catalog, would students consider the supplementary materials list to be an essential component of the course package?

13. In what ways would access to AUCAT affect the use of the supplementary materials list?

(4) Student Awareness and Use of Computers

1. Do students own or have access to a computer and a modem?

2. Have students used a computerized library catalog?

3. Are students aware that AUCAT, the Athabasca University Library catalog, is on computer?

4. If students had remote access to AUCAT, how might that affect their studies at Athabasca University?

This study is timely. Previous studies of Athabasca University students, graduates, and institutional programs have been conducted. However, only one study of the library services provided to Athabasca University students, by Appavoo and Hansen in 1988, was conducted prior to the present research. This is the first study of Athabasca University students with a specific focus on their use of the supplementary materials list.

It is hoped that this study will make the following three contributions: First, that it will contribute useful information to the Library with respect to the provision of quality library services to Athabasca University students.

Second, that this study will contribute to Athabasca University's knowledge of the role of the supplementary materials list in curriculum development and learning effectiveness. It is anticipated that course development teams will benefit from an evaluation of student use of the supplementary materials list with respect to whether the supplementary materials list is an essential component of the course package.

Third, it is anticipated that this study will contribute to the body of literature that already exists on the topic of distance education librarianship. It is hoped that the results of this study will be of interest to other institutions providing distance education, specifically those that are exclusively open universities. Individuals with an interest in distance education and/or distance education librarianship should benefit from an evaluation of library services to Athabasca University students.

#### **Definition of Key Terms**

The following key terms are defined for the purpose of this study: supplementary materials list, Athabasca University student, and use.

#### **Supplementary Materials List**

The supplementary materials list is a component of Athabasca University courses that identifies library materials that are in addition to the materials included in the complete course package. The library materials on the supplementary materials list may include monographs, periodical or journal articles, sound recordings, video recordings, or kits (such as the model brain, molecular model, physical examination instruments, or collection of cultural artifacts). Supplementary materials are not required materials; they are materials that have been identified as useful for additional reading and/or used in promoting the successful completion of a course assignment or project. The materials on the supplementary materials list may usually be obtained from the Athabasca University Library. A library in the vicinity of the student may be accessed for monograph and periodical materials.

# Athabasca University Student

Student is defined in Webster's Third New International Dictionary of the English Language as "a person engaged in study," or "one enrolled in a class or course in a school, college, or university" (Webster's, 1976). An Athabasca University student is an individual who has made application for admission to Athabasca University and has been accepted as such. The only requirements for admission to Athabasca University are that an individual be at least eighteen years of age and a resident of Canada.

Use is defined in *Webster's Third New International Dictionary of the English Language* (1976). Use means to put into action or service for an intended purpose, or to make instrumental. Synonymous terms include utilize and apply. In the context of this research, use refers to what extent the supplementary materials list is put into action or service, or made instrumental by students when requesting library materials. In other words, use refers to the extent to which the supplementary materials list is made instrumental, is utilized, or is applied by Athabasca University students as a means of selecting materials to borrow from the library.

# Limitations of the Study

There are three primary limitations to this study: First, while the literature contains material on the subject of library services to off-campus or external students, this thesis focuses on student use of the supplementary materials list at Athabasca University.

Second, evaluation is of student use of the supplementary materials list, not of the use of these lists by faculty, tutors, or library staff who provide services to students. A comprehensive evaluation of the effectiveness of the supplementary materials list would require data collection from these other groups involved in the use of the supplementary materials list and is beyond the scope of this thesis research.

Third, the evaluation is of "active" students; that is, students who are enrolled in an Athabasca University course. While students may be admitted and registered, they may not necessarily be enrolled in a course. This investigation is limited to registered students who are enrolled in a course at the time that the study was conducted.

Use

#### Chapter II

#### **Review of the Literature**

### **The Search Strategy**

The literature search was conducted in two parts. First, a search was conducted on *ERIC*, using the CD-ROM product, *DialogOnDisc* that provides coverage of *ERIC* documents, and on *Library and Information Science Abstracts (LISA)*, using the Dialog on-line database. To search both databases fully, free-text searches were conducted. The search terms used on *ERIC* were "open universities," "open university," "distance education," "library surveys," "library users," "library services," and "reference services." Seventy-one titles were retrieved. The search terms used on *LISA* were "distance education," "distance elarning," "open universities," and "open university." Fifty-eight titles were retrieved. Between the two databases, *ERIC* representing education, and *LISA* representing the field of librarianship, the literature was covered thoroughly.

Second, a search was done of the distance education collection at Athabasca University Library. The key term used for this portion of the search was "library services."

### The Literature

As was expected, there was some repetition of titles that appeared in each part of the literature search. One of the difficulties in reviewing the literature was determining which titles were most important to the study. It was found that the majority of the literature describes, in a general sense, the provision of library services to off-campus, extramural, or part-time students of traditional universities.

There is a growing body of literature that describes distance education and the provision of library services to distance education students. Keegan (1990), Sweet (1989), and Mugridge and Kaufman (1986) describe the theory, history, and growing phenomenon of distance education around the world, and particularly, in Canada. These authors suggest that support services to distance education students are paramount to the success of both the student and the program, and that library services are essential to an exclusively distance education institution.

The literature revealed that distance education institutions have been established arcund the world both in developed and developing countries. For example, open universities and distance education institutions in Great Britain, Australia, New Zealand, Canada, the United States, India, Thailand, the Pacific Islands, Pakistan, and Nigeria ofter distance education and endeavor to provide library services to their students. While the description of library services to distance education students is evident in the literature, it was found that few exclusively distance education institutions evaluated the library needs of their students or the library services provided to their students.

The literature may be divided into three categories: first, literature that describes, in a general sense, distance education librarianship; second, library services provided by traditional universities to their extramural, off-campus, or part-time students; and third, library services provided by exclusively open universities. It is the literature contained in the third category that is most important to this review.

#### **Distance Education Librarianship**

It was during the 1970s that distance education librarianship became of age. Since that time there has been a steady increase in the quantity and quality of literature in the field of distance education librarianship.

Five bibliographies provies comprehensive identification and review of the literature on the subject of distance education and library services to distance education students from as early as 1921 to the present. Wolf (1951); Haworth (1982); Harry (1985); Shklanka (1990); and Latham, Slade, and Budnick (1991) provide examination and review of the literature on the subject of library service to distance education students. Of interest is the evolution of terminology used to describe distance education; that is, from the use of "correspondence study" and "university courses by extension" to "distance education" and "off-campus librarianship"; and the use of technology as a primary means of bridging the distance between the student and teacher.

# Library Services to External, Off-campus, or Part-time Students

The majority of the literature is in the cetegory of library services to external, off-campus, or part-time students, and presents the need and rationale for establishing a program of library services specifically to meet the needs of distance education students. The literature in this category describes how traditional post-secondary institutions provide for the library needs of their non-resident students. Guidelines and standards, collection development and management, document delivery, interlibrary cooperation, and bibliographic instruction are areas of general librarianship that are integral to distance education librarianship. The methodology of each area, however, must be adjusted to meet the specific and, sometimes, unique demands of the distance education library. The literature describes the key elements of distance education librarianship that must be incorporated into the plan for effective and quality delivery of library services to distance education students. Kascus and Aguilar (1988), Crocker (1989, 1986), Appavoo (1986, 1985), Fisher (1985, 1982, 1981), and Slade (1986) present overviews of library services and reinforce the requirement to organize and implement effective and quality programs of library services to distance education students.

The Off-Campus Library Services Conference is a primary forum at which distance education librarians and administrators exchange ideas and methodologies of delivery of library services to off-campus and distance education students. The *Proceedings* of each conference (four have been held from 1982 to 1988) provide valuable sources of information that covers guidelines, policies, programs, and uses of new technology in distance education librarianship. The *Proceedings* of the 1986 Conference held in Reno, Nevada, contain 30 papers, while the *Proceedings* of the most recent 1988 Conference held in Charleston, South Carolina, contain 36 papers.

# Library Service to Students of Exclusively Distance Education Institutions

The literature in the category of library service to students of exclusively distance education institutions is the most significant to this thesis. No study of a supplementary materials list was found. It was discovered that there is a relatively small amount of literature that focuses specifically on the subject of library services to students of exclusively distance education institutions; some selected studies of library services to distance education students, as appropriate, are identified here.

One of the earlier studies of library service to distance education students was that conducted by Marsterson and Wilson (1975). A study was conducted by a mail questionnaire and data were received from 81 home-based students of London University and 311 home-based students of the Open University (UK). The study provided, in addition to characteristics of the home-based student, an analysis of the types of libraries used by the students, the library services provided, and the study requirements of the students. The public library was identified as a primary source of materials by students of both institutions. While London University is a traditional university, the Open University is an exclusively open university. At both institutions, it was found that home-based students relied primarily on the services of public libraries.

Wijesinghe (1988) provides a concise description of library services provided to students of the Open University of Sri Lanka. It was found that close liaison between the Open University Library and public libraries is the key to providing library services to the students.

Slade (1985 and 1988) conducted two mail surveys of Canadian post-secondary institutions to determine what library support was available for their off-campus students. The 1985 survey was of 24 Canadian universities; the 1988 survey was of 199 Canadian post-secondary institutions. The focus of the surveys was on library services to off-campus students of traditional universities rather than on library services available or provided to students of an open university. The results of the two surveys by Slade revealed that attempts were being made by some Canadian university libraries to provide library services to off-campus students, on a full-time basis, a traditional university. However, it was found that distance education students had difficulty obtaining library services from an academic library other than the institution in which the student was enrolled. In other words, universities tended to provide library services to their own students and there were no reciprocating arrangements in place that provided students of one university with the opportunity to obtain borrowing privileges from another university's library.

Fisher and Bolton (1987) conducted a study of 2,301 extramural students at the University of . Birmingham (UK) to evaluate the effectiveness of library services provided to students and tutors. Unlike

15

an exclusively open university system, the University of Birmingham is a traditional university with extramural or external students. The focus of this study was on the use of a book-box system of providing library materials to groups of extramural students taking a course at off-campus locations. A supply of library materiale was deposited at the site at which students were taking the course. The major finding of this study was that the book-box system proved to be an essential service. A recommendation at the conclusion of the study was that students should not be limited to this service as the only means of acquiring library materials. Instead, students should be encouraged to use library services on an individual basis.

Dale and Schippes (1987) provide an overview of the provision of library resources to students of the Dutch and British Open Universities. The important component of library services to students of the British Open University is the inclusion of "guides to the use of libraries and literature" in the course materials. The study reports that the aim of the "guide" is to show students how they can gain access to the network of most appropriate and available network of libraries.

Burge, Snow, and Howard (1988) conducted an investigation of the library needs of distance education students in northern Ontario. Educational institutions, academic and public libraries, and distance education students were surveyed by mail questionnaire to determine how library services were provided to these students, located throughout northern Ontario. A separate mail survey was constructed for each of the survey groups. A total of 76 out of 150 public library staff responded; 17 out of 20 academic library staff responded; 53 faculty and instructors from 7 educational institutions responded; and 517 out of 1750 students enrolled in distance education courses responded.

The findings of the study by Burge, Snow, and Howard indicated that public library services were used very little by distance education students. Some staff of the public libraries that were surveyed did not know whether distance education students were using their libraries. The study further revealed that there was little publicity of library services to distance education students. Academic library staff reported that there was limited financial support for distance education library services. Some academic library staff reported that such services as interlibrary loans could be arranged and computerized literature searches could be conducted for distance education students. The majority of academic library staff who responded to the survey, however, reported that they believed students were not aware of the library services available to them, or that students did not think they needed library assistance to complete their courses. More than half of the faculty and instructors who responded to the survey indicated that, while they believed the course materials were of paramount importance, some additional materials should be recommended to the students. Most faculty and instructors indicated that libraries should promote their services more and be prepared to provide library instruction. The majority of students who responded to the survey sent to them indicated that they believed that distance education courses were more accessible to them than regular classroom courses, and they believed that the course materials were sufficient to complete the courses. Students did, however, report that they used libraries located in their vicinity to acquire library materials.

Appavoo and Hansen (1988) conducted a study of Athabasca University Library users to compile a profile of typical users and to determine their information needs and their patterns of library use. This is the only study of Athabasca University students that has been done with respect to library services. This study consisted of two parts. First, a telephone survey was conducted of a random sample of 300 students registered in all courses with the exception of accounting and computer science courses. Second, the 683 library requests that were received within a four-month period (Sept. to Dec. 1987), either by mail or telephone, were analyzed. There were three primary findings of this study. First, it was found that students requested specific library materials that had been suggested to them by their tutors. Second, it was found that use of the Library increased as the number of courses the student took increased. Third, the percentage of cligible students who used Athabasca University Library within the four-month period was 9%.

Auger and Tremaine (1987) conducted a mail survey of extramural students at Massey University in New Zealand. This study, more closely than any other found in the literature, resembles the current thesis. The total enrolment of extramural students at Massey was 10,391. A sample size of 1,600 was generated using a systematic sampling method. A response rate of 79% was attained. The major finding of this study was that 95% of the respondents were aware of library services to extramural students, but only 43% used the library services of Massey University. The study concluded with the following recommendations: first,

17

that every extramural student be made aware of the library scrvices provided by Massey; second, that closer liaison take place between teaching staff and the library; and third, that there be an emphasis on quality of services to users.

The literature provides evidence that there is a growing need and concern among distance education institutions to provide library services to their students. It is increasingly necessary that library services be made available to off-campus or extramural students of traditional universities and to students of exclusively distance education institutions. In some cases students are left to acquire needed library materials on their own. Although such students may rely on the services of public libraries, public libraries are often unaware of the specific library needs of distance education students, and many public libraries may be uninformed of the specific needs of distance education library users and therefore be unable to provide appropriate materials for university-level courses. It is ultimately up to each distance education institution to accept the responsibility of providing library services to meet the educational needs of its students.

٠.

#### Chapter III

### **Research Methodology**

The study was carried out by means of a questionnaire survey of a random sample of all Athabasca University students enrolled in one or more courses.

# **Pilot Study**

A pilot study of student use of the supplementary materials list was conducted among 30 Athabasca University Library users in early 1990. Data were collected over a one week period by means of brief telephone interviews. Students who telephoned the library information desk to place requests for library materials were asked to participate in a brief telephone survey on student use of the supplementary materials list. The students who participated in this pilot study were self-selected library users; that is, they requested library materials on their own initiative. Data were collected with respect to patterns of library use, impressions of library services, and evaluation of the supplementary materials list. See Appendix 1 for the questionnaire that was used for the telephone interviews in the pilot study.

The pilot study served as a test to determine the feasibility of investigating student use of the supplementary materials list among all active students of Athabasca University. It was anticipated that a survey instrument similar to the one used for the pilot study would be used for the thesis research, with appropriate modifications for a questionnaire survey by mail among a random sample of all active Athabasca University students. A total of 30 students participated in the pilot study. Some 40% of the participants said that they were between 40 and 49 years of age, 35% were between 30 and 39, and 15% were between 20 and 29. Of this total, 40% were enrolled in their first Athabasca University course and 33% had completed one to three courses. Almost 80% of the participants considered library use to be essential to success in their Athabasca University course work. Virtually all of the participants (29 out of 30 students) said that they either always or occasionally consulted the supplementary materials lists when requesting library materials from the Athabasca University Library, and nearly 80% thought that the

majority of the participants also indicated that they wanted the Library to send them materials in addition to the library materials that they specifically requested.

The statistical profile is not generalizable to all Athabasca University students. The pilot study was conducted among self-selected users of Athabasca University Library; that is, students who phoned the Library to make a request for materials were the participants of the pilot study. Because the degree of generalizability of the pilot study results was unknown, the decision was made to conduct a more comprehensive analysis of active Athabasca University students, with specific reference to the supplementary materials list.

# **Approvals and Ethics Review Requirements**

Approvals from the following committees or departments were required and secured prior to proceeding with the research:

- The Graduate Research Committee, School of Library and Information Studies, University of Alberta.
- (2) The Library, Athabasca University.
- (3) The Academic Research Committee, Athabasca University.
- (4) The Centre for Distance Education, Athabasca University.
- (5) The Registrar, Athabasca University, to obtain mailing labels with the name and address for each student selected through random sampling.

### **Population and Sample**

Athabasca University has an enrolment of approximately 18,000 students; students who have been admitted to Athabasca University. Admitted students are not necessarily registered in a course at any given time, and therefore they are not all "active" students. The number of active students—those taking at least one Athabasca University course—at the time the random sample was drawn in March 1991 was 7,308. This figure was generated from ISIS, the student records system maintained by Athabasca University. For purposes of the thesis research, all students registered in an Athabasca University course were included in the population of active students.

From the population of active students identified by ISIS, a simple random sample of 800 students was drawn. The required sample size from a population of 7,000 is 261 cases, based on a 90% confidence level and allowing for a permissible error of  $\pm 0.05$ . The sample size was inflated to 800 cases to allow for slightly less than a 50% response rate. The inflation figure was based on data from the Centre for Distance Education at Athabasca University that revealed that recent mail surveys have resulted in response rates of approximately 50%.

The population of active students was divided into two categories: new and continuing students. The original random sample of 800 students consisted of 363 new students and 437 continuing students. New students were those who, at the time of the study, were enrolled in their first Athabasca University course and had not yet completed it. Continuing students were those who, at the time of the study, had successfully completed at least one course prior to the course or courses in which they were currently enrolled. The distribution of new and continuing students in the random sample was found to be identical to the distribution in the original population of active Athabasca University students. The random sample was generated from the Athabasca University student record system, producing only a mailing label. Stude : identification numbers were not used; no names were used other than for the purpose of mailing. When the mailing labels were generated, however, four labels did not have complete addresses and an attempt to obtain complete addresses through the Registry at Athabasca University was not successful. The questionnaire was sent out to 796 students; of these, three were returned undelivered. Therefore, the final sample consisted of 793 active students of Athabasca University. Table 1 shows the distribution of active students in the original population and in the random sample.

#### Survey Instrument

Dividing the sample of students into these two categories facilitated the design of the mail survey questionnaire. A single version of the survey instrument would have meant extensive branching within questions to allow for appropriate responses by both new and continuing students. Such an instrument

would have been cumbersome and students would have had difficulty working through the questionnaire in an expedient manner. Two versions of the survey instrument were therefore created. While the substance of the questions was identical for both, one version was worded appropriately for students who had previously completed a course, and the other for students who were enrolled in their first Athabasca University course. See Appendix 4 for the version of the questionnaire sent to new students and Appendix 5 for the version of the questionnaire sent to continuing students. The questionnaire provided for both quantitative and qualitative responses and it was organized to facilitate the later coding of quantitative responses for analysis using SPSSx.

One limitation of the questionnaire must be pointed out. Only library users were asked about the supplementary materials list. As a result, the awareness and use of the supplementary materials list may be understated.

A covering letter with the questionnaire provided students with a brief description of the research project. Participants were provided with a pre-addressed, postage paid envelope in which to return the completed questionnaire.

Anonymity and confidentiality were assured each student. Assurance was also given to each student that participation, or not, in the research study would not affect the library services provided to them. Students were advised that the information received through the survey would be used to complete the requirements for this thesis. See Appendix 3 for the covering letter that was included with each questionnaire.

# **Pretest of the Survey Instrument**

The survey instrument was pretested by seven individuals at Athabasca University. Six of the seven pretest participants had taken an Athabasca University course. They pretested both versions of the questionnaire. A covering letter to the pretest respondents asked them to work through the questionnaire as if they had received it in the mail (see Appendix 2). They were asked to note any difficulties in following the instructions, ambiguities in wording, areas that were unclear, and to make suggestions to improve the overall quality and effectiveness of the questionnaire. As a result of the pretest, a few minor changes were made to the questionnaire. For the most part, however, the pretesting was favorable and confirmed that the survey instrument was well organized and easy to work through.

### The Survey

The questionnaires were mailed on March 11, 1991. Students were asked to complete the questionnaire and return it within a two-week period from the time of mailing, March 25, 1991, or as soon as possible. Three weeks following the mailing of the questionnaires, 236 had been returned. The last questionnaire was received on May 8, 1991.

A total of 269 questionnaires were returned, for an overall response rate of 34%. The response rate for new students was 25%; the rate for continuing students was 44%. Table 1 shows the response rates by category of student.

Table 1. Active Students — March 1991							
Status of Students	Popul Number	ation Percent	Final S Number	ample Percent	Respor Number	ndents Percent	Response Rate Percent
New	4,005	55%	431	54%	109	41%	25%
Continuing	3,303	45%	362	46%	160	59%	44%
Total	7,308	100%	793	100%	269	100%	34%

Although the response rate of 34% was less than anticipated and attempts could have been made to solicit more responses, the decision was made to compile the results of the questionnaires returned from the one-time mailing. This was done because follow-up was impractical, given the fact that student identification records were not kept. Therefore, there was no way to identify and track the respondents and follow up with non-respondents. In addition, follow-up was uot conducted because of the extra time and

expense that would have been required. Finally, as was pointed out, the sample size required for a population of 7,000 cases to attain a confidence level of 90% and a permissible error of  $\pm 0.05$  is 261 cases.

It should be pointed out that if future studies are conducted of Athabasca University students with respect to library services, a means of follow-up of non-respondents should be incorporated into the survey. This could be done by tracking student identification numbers of respondents and then sending a follow-up reminder to non-respondents.

### Analysis of the Data

The 269 questionnaires were coded and entered into a datafile for analysis on SPSSx. See Appendix 6 for the coding structure that was used for both versions of the survey instrument. Frequency distributions were generated for all coded variables. Cross tabulations of selected variables were also generated. For the variable of "course enrolled in," the specific courses reported by respondents were recoded and grouped into disciplines, for example, BIOL, ENGL, PSYC. The disciplines were then grouped according to faculty of study, that is, Faculty of Administrative Studies, Faculty of Arts, and Faculty of Science.

Written comments provided by respondents on several questions were entered into a flat ASCII text file, and compiled into separate files using an AWK program on the UNIX system. The written comments by respondents provided descriptive and illustrative information that otherwise would not have been available. See Appendix 7 for the coding program for the open comments.

#### Chapter IV

#### Findings

The findings are presented as follows:

1. Characteristics of active Athabasca University students,

2. Student awareness and use of library materials,

3. Student awareness and use of the supplementary materials list, and

4. Student awareness and use of computers.

# 1. Characteristics of Active Athabasca University Students

Students were asked to provide information on the questionnaire that would help determine typical characteristics of Athabasca University students in the survey sample. Specifically, students were asked to identify their age, gender, level of previous education, number of Athabasca University courses in which they were enrolled, number of courses completed, and the faculty in which they were enrolled.

Age: As Table 2 below shows, almost half of the 268 respondents were 30 to 39 years of age. The next largest age group represented was 20 to 29 years of age. There were more respondents 50 years of age and over than there were under 20. This is unlike a traditional university, in which the majority of students enter following graduation from high school. The student body of Athabasca University is typically older and comprised of students who are already in the work force, perhaps married and with families, settled in their communities, but who for various reasons want to take university courses.

Gender: Female respondents outnumbered male respondents by a ratio of 2 to 1. There were 185 females and 82 males who responded to the survey (see Table 2).

Previous education attained: Responses ranged from elementary education to having earned a post-secondary degree. As Table 2 shows, only 1% of 266 respondents had attained less than a secondary level of education, while most students had taken some post-secondary courses and earned a diploma, degree, or another credential. This is noteworthy because there is no academic requirement to meet for

admission to Athabasca University. Almost all students (99%), however, have attained at least a secondary level of education.

Table 2. Characteristics of Student Respondents				
Characteristic	Students Number Percent			
		rerectit		
Age				
Under 20 years	6	2%		
20 - 29 years	70	26		
30 - 39 years	128	48		
40 - 49 years	51	19		
50 - 59 years	9	3		
60 - 69 years	_4	$\frac{2}{100\pi}$		
	268	100%		
Gender				
Male	82	31%		
Female	185	_69		
	267	100%		
Previous education attained	1			
Elementary	3	1%		
Secondary	10	4		
Post-Secondary courses	91	34		
Diploma	104	39		
Degree	46	17		
Other	_12	5		
	266	100%		

Athabasca University course enrolments: Table 3 below shows that, at the time of the survey, three-quarters of the respondents were enrolled in one Athabasca University course. At the other extreme, one student was enrolled in six courses. Twenty percent of the respondents were taking either two or three courses at the same time.

Athabasca University courses completed: A question was asked to verify student status at Athabasca University; that is, whether respondents were new or continuing students (having completed at least one Athabasca University course prior to this survey). As Table 3 shows, out of 266 respondents, 108 students (or 40%) indicated that they were taking their first Athabasca University course. Almost one-quarter of the respondents had completed either 1 or 2 courses while eight percent had completed 10 or more courses. The 40/60 split of student respondents is in direct proportion to the split of students in the original random sample and to the population of active Athabasca University students. In both the random sample and the population of active students the division of new and continuing students was approximately 45% and 55%, respectively (see Table 1).

Faculty enrolment at Athabasca University: Respondents were asked to identify the faculty of study in which they were enrolled. Students are not required to declare a faculty upon registration, but those intending to earn a certificate or degree must enrol in a faculty. Out of 268 respondents, Table 3 shows that about 40% of the students were undeclared; that is, they were taking a course but had not identified a program of study. Students in this category are enrolled in their first course and this course may be taken for the sake of interest. On the other hand, almost 60% had declared a faculty at the time of this study and it may therefore be assumed that they intend to earn a certificate or degree. In descending order, faculties having the most students were: Administrative Studies (32%), Arts (18%), and Science (9%).

Students were asked to identify the course they had most recently completed, or the course in which they were currently enrolled if they were new students. A total of 84 Athabasca University courses were identified by 240 respondents. (See Appendix 8 for the complete list of courses represented in the sample and the number of student respondents taking each course.) The most popular courses among respondents were as follows:

MATH 215: Introduction to Statistics (13 respondents) ADMN 232: Introduction to Administrative Principles (12 respondents) BIOL 230: Human Physiology (11 respondents) ACCT 253: Introduction to Accounting (10 respondents) PHIL 252: Critical Thinking (10 respondents) PSYC 289: Introduction to Psychology (10 respondents)
Characteristic	Stude Number	
AU courses enrolled in One Two Three Four Five Six	$203 \\ 41 \\ 14 \\ 5 \\ 2 \\ -1 \\ 266$	76% 15 5 2 1 1 100%
AU courses completed None (new students) One Two Three Four Five Six Seven Eight Nine Ten or more	108 36 28 23 15 16 7 6 7 2 2 20 268	$ \begin{array}{c} 40\% \\ 13 \\ 10 \\ 9 \\ 6 \\ 6 \\ 3 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ \underline{-8} \\ 100\% \end{array} $
Faculty in which enrolled Administrative Studies Arts Science Undeclared	86 48 24 <u>110</u> 268	32% 18 9 <u>_41</u> 100%

Table 4 shows the courses taken by respondents grouped according to academic discipline. The most popular disciplines were Psychology (almost 13% of the respondents), English (almost 8%), Administration (just over 7%), and Mathematics and Biology (about 6% each).

Table 4. Course Registrations of Respondents Grouped by Academic Discipline				
Dissipling	Stud	ents		
Discipline	Number	Percent		
Psychology	32	12.7%		
English	20	7.9		
Administration	18	7.1		
Biology	16	6.3		
Math	16	6.3		
Accounting	15	5.9		
Economics	14	5.6		
French	14	5.6		
Sociology	12	4.8		
History	11	4.4		
Philosophy	10	4.0		
Communications	9	3.6		
Anthropology	8	3.2		
Nursing	8	3.2		
Finance	7	2.8		
Organizational Behaviour	6	2.4		
Political Science	6	2.4		
Computer Science	5	2.0		
Legal Studies	5	2.0		
Geography	2 2	.9		
Humanities	2	.8		
Industrial Relations	2	.8		
Management Science	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	.8		
Marketing	2	.8		
Nutrition	2	.8		
Sociology/Anthropology	2	.8		
Taxation	2	.8		
Women's Studies	2	.8		
Applied Studies	1	.3		
Geology	1	.3		
Total	252	100.0%		

Table 5 shows the number of course registrations grouped according to the faculty from which the courses were offered. Just over half of the respondents, 133 students, were enrolled in a Faculty of Arts course. Another 27% of the respondents were enrolled in a Faculty of Administrative Studies course, and

20% in a Faculty of Science course. It should be pointed out that students in one faculty must take courses offered by another faculty, not only for interest sake, but to fulfill program requirements.

Table 5. Course Registrations of RespondentsGrouped by Faculty of Study				
Faculty	Stud Number			
Administrative Studies Arts Science	68 133 51	27% 53 20		
Total	252	100%		

A composite of the typical Athabasca University student, gathered from respondents, is as follows. The typical student is female, between the ages of 30 and 39, and has taken some post-secondary courses prior to enrolling in studies at Athabasca University. The typical student is a continuing student, that is, she has already completed at least one Athabasca University course, and is enrolled in only one Athabasca University course at a time. This composite corresponds with previous ones.

Smyrnew (1983) reported that for the year 1981/82 there were 62% females and 38% males admitted to Athabasca University. Over two-thirds of the students were 25 to 44 years of age (p. 6). The pattern had not changed five years later. Appavoo and Hansen (1988) reported, on the basis of data gathered by the Centre for Distance Education at Athabasca University, that two-thirds of all students were between the ages of 25 and 44, and women represented two-thirds of all registered students (p. 13).

Smyrnew (1983) reported also that high school education had been attained by 89% of newly admitted students, while 67% also had some post-secondary education (p. 6). The profile of the typical student has improved dramatically since 1983 in the area of education attained prior to being admitted to Athabasca University. In the current study, 95% of the respondents have some education beyond the secondary level.

# 2. Student Awareness and Use of Library Materials

Students were asked to provide information on the questionnaire that would help to determine their awareness of Athabasca University Library and use of library materials to complete their courses.

Almost all respondents said that they were aware that Athabasca University provides library services to registered students. A total of 233 respondents (or 87%) reported an awareness of Athabasca University Library. Moreover, 148 students (55%) reported that they knew the procedures for requesting materials from Athabasca University Library. A total of 90 respondents (36%) indicated that it is essential to use library materials to complete an Athabasca University course.

Table 6 shows relatively low library use by students: overall, only 21% of 265 respondents borrowed library materials for the course they had just completed or in which they were enrolled at the time of the survey. Among the library users, new and continuing students were represented in almost equal proportions, 21% and 22% respectively. Because there was no follow up of non-respondents, their incidence of library users may very well be substantially lower than the 21% of respondents that reported they were library users. The Appavoo and Hansen study (1988) found that 9% of all randomly selected students were library users; there were no non-respondents. The issue of which figure accurately reflects library use of Athabasca University students is unresolved by this study because of the earlier methodological decision made not to track non-respondents.

Table 6. Student Use of Library Materials						
Library Material Borrowed	Ne Number	ew Percent	Stud Contin Number		To Number	tal Percent
Yes No Total	22 <u>85</u> 107	21%  100%	34 <u>124</u> 158	22% <u>78</u> 100%	56 <u>209</u> 265	21% <u>79</u> 100%

Looking at library use according to academic discipline, the highest proportion of respondents who

reported library use were taking courses in Political Science (83%). The disciplines of French, Humanitic Nursing, Sociology/Anthrepology, Taxation, and Women's Studies each had percentages of 50% who reported that they borrowed library materials. Psychology, English, and French are the disciplines in wh the highest absolute number of respondents said they borrowed library materials (9, 7, and 7 respectively

Discipline	Library Materials Borrowed by Students Yes No			
(respondents)	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
POLI (6)	5	83%	1	17%
FREN (14)	7	50%	7	50%
HUMN (2)	1	50%	1	50%
NURS (8)	4	50%	4	50%
SOAN (2)	1	50%	1	50%
TAXX (2)	1	50%	1	50%
WMST (2)	1	50%	1	50%
ENGL (20)	7	35%	13	65%
PSYC (32)	9	28%	23	72%
HIST (11)	3	27%	8	73%
ANTH (8)	2	25%	6	75%
ACCT (15)	3	20%	12	80%
BIOL (16)	3	19%	13	81%
ORGB (6)	1	17%	5	83%
ADMN (18)	2	11%	16	89%
COMM (9)		11%	9	89%
PHIL (9)	1	11%	8	89%
SOCI (12)	i	8%	11	92%
ECON (14)	1	7%	12	93%
APST(1)	0	0%	1	100%
	0	0%	5	100%
COMP (5)	0	0%	7	100%
FNCE (7)	0	0%	2	100%
GEOG (2)	0	0%	1	100%
GEOL(1)		0% 0%	2	100%
IDRL (2)	0	0% 0%	5	100%
LGST (5)	-	0% 0%	15	100%
MATH (15)	0		2	100%
MGSC (2)	0	0%	2	100%
MKTG (2)	0	0%		100%
NUTR (2)	0	0%		100%
Total (250)	54	22%	196	78%

Table 7 shows percentages of students, in descending order, in each academic discipline who borrowed library materials for the course they had completed or in which they were enrolled at the time of this study. (Appendix 9 shows student use of library materials by academic discipline in alphabetical order.)

Table 8 shows that students who were taking a Faculty of Arts course at the time of the study reported the highest percentage of library use, 30%, followed by students who were taking a Faculty of Science course, and, finally by students taking a Faculty of Administrative Studies course. Similarly, the highest absolute number of students (39) who borrowed library materials were taking a Faculty of Arts course. It is noteworthy that students taking a Faculty of Arts course were above the percentage of students who borrowed library materials while students who were taking a Faculty of Administrative Studies or a Faculty of Science course were substantially below the percentage of all respondents who reported that they borrowed library materials.

On the Bas	is of Course, G			
Faculty (respondents)	Library Materials Borrowed by Students Yes No			
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Administrative Studies (68)	8	12%	60	88%
Faculty of Arts (132)	39	30%	93	70%
Faculty of Science (50)	7	14%	43	86%
Total (250)	54*	22%	196	78%

Several comments made by non-users of library services suggested that the course materials package contained sufficient materials to complete most courses. Some students commented that they had their own reference works on various subjects which they used to help complete their course work. Selected comments made by non-users with respect to why they did not borrow library materials are provided below.

"I did not feel the need to read any other materials for this course. There was more than enough reading involved with the course as it was."

"My course was very self-contained and I did not need any other materials."

"The course did not require any research."

"In the past, I found the books were not what I needed. I am NOT paying long distance charges to add to the cost of an already expensive course. The mail is too slow to depend on it."

Respondents who reported that they borrowed library materials for their courses were asked to

identify the types of library materials they used. Table 9 shows the type of library materials used by the 56

responding library users, indicating both the number and percentage of users. Of all library users, 35

reported that they used monograph materials. Examples of materials in the "other" category include the

model brain, the molecular kit, computer software, and kits of physical examination instruments.

Table 9. Type of Library Materials Used			
Type of Material	Library Users* Number Percen		
Books Journal articles Video materials Audio materials Other materials *n=56	35 12 14 11 4	63% 21% 25% 20% 7%	

Library users were asked to identify whether they used Athabasca University Library or other libraries. Table 10 shows that of the 56 respondents who used library materials, 44 reported that they used Athabasca University Library, 21 used other libraries, and 9 used both Athabasca University Library and a library in their own community.

Table 10. Type of Library Used			
Library Used	Library Number		
Athabasca University Library Other Library Both *n=56	44 21 9	79% 38% 16%	

Students who borrowed library materials were asked to indicate how they selected them, for example, on the basis of topic, specific items, or a combination of both topic and specific items. While most Athabasca University courses include a supplementary materials list, students may select specific materials from the list or they may select materials on the basis of the subject or the assignment. Table 11 shows that, from among all library users, 34 students selected materials on the basis of a specific item or on the basis of a subject. A total of 17 students reported that they selected library materials on the basis of both a specific item and a subject.

Table 11: Type of Selection of Materials Made by Library Users				
Selection Type	Library Users* Number Percen			
Specific Item Subject Both *n=56	34 34 17	61% 61% 30%		

The advantage of selecting specific materials on the basis of topic or subject matter is that although students may have a preference for specific titles, not all titles may be available at the time the student wishes to borrow them. Other items, then, may be substituted for the materials specifically selected if the students identify their subjects. It is believed that students would prefer to borrow materials on their subjects rather than to receive no materials at all (if, for example, a student selects specific items and the items are not available for loan). Students who choose to borrow materials on the basis of subject matter can then proceed with their coursework rather than waiting for specific materials to be returned to the Library.

Students who borrowed materials from Athabasca University Library were asked how they made their requests for library materials. Requests for materials can be made by telephone, mail, FAX, or in person. Table 12 shows that, at the time of the study, telephone and mail requests were used most frequently by Athabasca University Library users, 70% and 30% respectively.

Table 12: Type of Request Made by Students Who Used Athabasca University Library					
Request	Students*				
-	Number	Percent			
Telephone	31	70%			
Mail	13	30%			
In-person	6	14%			
FAX	2 5%				
*n=44	_				

Students who used Athabasca University Library were asked how many requests for library materials they made while taking their course. Table 13 shows that most students made only one or two requests for library inaterials. One student reported making ten requests for library materials from Athabasca University Library in a single course.

Respondents who were Athabasca University library users were asked if they we  $\pm$  satisfied with the materials they received from Athabasca University Library and if they were satisfied with the time it took for the materials to arrive following the request. Table 14 shows that almost all of the respondents were satisfied or partially satisfied with both the materials they received and the time taken for delivery.

Table 13. Requests for Library Materials By Students Who Used Athabasca University Library			
Requests	Students Number Percent		
One Two Three Four Five Six Seven Eight Nine Ten or more	16 9 8 3 3 1 0 0 0 1	39% 22 19 7 7 2 0 0 0 0 2	
Total	41	100%	

Table 14. Student Satisfaction with Library Materials Received from Athabasca University Library			
Satisfaction with	Students		
Library Materials	Number Percent		
Yes	31	76%	
No	2	5	
Partially	<u>_8</u>	<u>19</u>	
Total	41	100%	
Time of Delivery			
Yes	31	82%	
No	4	10	
Partially	<u>3</u>	<u>8</u>	
Total	38	100%	

While most respondents who used Athabasca University Library indicated that they were pleased or partially pleased with the materials they received, a few students commented that some photocopied materials arrived with pages missing. Another commented that the quality of audio/visual materials was

poor. Another student commented that the book requested was out on loan and consequently a long wait for the materials was necessary. However, favorable comments outnumbered unfavorable, as the following excerpts from the questionnaires show:

"I was pleased that not only was I sent the books I requested specifically, I was sent several related books and a wonderful book with a feminist theme written by men."

"Materials were varied and fairly comprehensive."

"The reason that I am taking time to respond is because I felt that they did a good job in helping me."

"Materials were received quickly and in excellent condition."

"Materials received very promptly. Usually received materials 2 days after I have sent my FAX." "Yes, most material was here within a week."

One student reported that the books did not arrive as anticipated, and another student reported that it took months for the books to arrive. Generally, however, students expressed satisfaction.

Students who had indicated that they used Athabasca University Library and were enrolled in two or more course on had completed two or more courses were asked if the experience they were describing on the questionnaire was typical of their other courses. Seventy-five percent said yes. This suggests that the materials in the Athabasca University Library collection meet the study needs of students and that the level of service provided to students is consistent.

In summary, almost all respondents to the survey were aware that Athabasca University provides library services to its students. While just over 35% of the respondents believed that library materials are essential to complete an Athabasca University course, only 21% of the respondents reported that they actually used library materials. Of the respondents who were library users, almost 80% used Athabasca University Library and 30% used other libraries. Monograph material was the most frequent type of material borrowed. Students who used Athabasca University Library reported that they placed their requests by telephone or mail. Most students made only one or two requests for material from Athabasca University Library and were satisfied with both the materials they received and the time it took for the materials to be delivered.

38

# 3. Student Awareness and Use of the Supplementary Materials List

The 56 students who indicated that they used library materials were asked specific questions about course supplementary materials lists. These questions concerned whether their course had a supplementary materials list, whether titles on the supplementary materials list were relevant to the course, whether they borrowed titles on the supplementary materials list from a library other than Athabasca University Library, and whether they considered the supplementary materials list to be an essential component of the course package. Because only library users were asked questions about the supplementary materials list, it must be pointed out that students may have have been aware of the supplementary materials list and used it for purposes other than those specifically related to library use.

Two-thirds of all library users (37) indicated that their course had a supplementary materials list. This proportion was corroborated through a manual check of the Athabasca University Library documentation for all courses identified by respondents. It was found that, of the 84 courses identified by respondent library users in this study, 59 actually had a supplementary materials list. Appendix 10 is a list of the courses identified in the survey as having a supplementary materials list, the number of students in the course, and the number of students who recognized the supplementary materials list. In only 10 courses did all the students recognize that a supplementary materials list was included.

When grouped by the faculty offering the courses, it is interesting to note, as Table 15 shows, that 96% of the Arts courses had a supplementary materials list, followed by almost half of the Science courses. Of Administrative Studies courses, only 32% had a supplementary materials list.

39

Table 15. Courses Having a Sug Grouped by Faculty C		
Faculty Courses		rses Percent
(n courses)	Number	Fercent
Administrative Studies (22)	7	32%
Arts (47)	45	96%
Science (15)	7	47%
Total (84)	59	70%

Table 16 shows the number of library users, grouped by the faculty offering the course they were taking, who found a supplementary materials list in their course package.

ary Users Recognizing ary Materials List, ulty Offering the Course	
Stud Number	ents Percent
1 29 5	13% 74% 71%
35*	65%
t	ary Materials List, ulty Offering the Course Stud Number 1 29 5

A question was asked of library users to determine whether they borrowed titles identified on the supplementary materials list from a library other than Athabasca University Library. Of the total of 13 students who responded, 10 reported that they were successful in borrowing supplementary materials from another library. This indicates that although library services are available to students, some also use libraries in their local communities. It is interesting to know that items on the supplementary materials list may be available from sources other than Athabasca University Library and that students try to obtain them

elsewhere.

The three students who were not successful in obtaining items on the supplementary materials lists from another library were asked why. The reasons were that the materials were all out or that the materials were not available from the particular library.

Respondents who were library users were asked if they thought the supplementary materials list was an essential component of the Athabasca University course package. Most of the respondents (29 out of 37) said yes.

Comments gathered from the survey questionnaire indicated that most students believe that the supplementary materials list is essential to the course package. A comment made by one student was that the supplementary materials list can enable a student to seek clarification of the subject. Another student commented that the supplementary materials list is helpful for completing assignments as it gives direction for research or it provides for a chance to broaden perspectives regarding the course. Other selected comments echoed these ideas. One student said that material can be used throughout a lifetime for learning. Another said that the supplementary materials list helps a person look for materials needed for the course without spending a lot of time. The supplementary materials list, as one student commented, is very handy and very time-saving.

While students who were library users believe that the supplementary materials list is essential and the use of supplementary materials is important, the reality is that most students do not use supplementary materials. For example, one student said, "I suppose I never really had need to examine the list." Other students similarly commented that they had no time to follow up on them. One student said "I found myself rushed to get through this course due to other pressures in my life."

Library users who used the supplementary materials list provided comments that indicated that for them it is essential to the course and the materials listed were relevant to the course. Some selected comments were as follows.

"The materials mentioned would help a person understand the material better."

"The supplementary materials gave me a start when looking for books in my local libraries—even if I didn't find them."

"I would have had some difficulty in writing the necessary essays without the resource material." "I find it somewhat difficult to study alone at home rather than sharing ideas, etc. in the classroom. The supplemental materials are a real bonus for me."

"If you need materials for the assignment this list is very helpful to get books or articles about topics which were only partially covered in the course."

"Most materials can be found at your local public library (at least in the city)."

"Questions in the workbook often have answers only found in the supplementary material."

"The choice of texts and the elaborative materials in the guides is first rate."

Of the courses identified by library users 70% had a supplementary materials list. Among Faculty of Arts courses, 96% had a supplementary materials list while only 74% of the students taking those courses said their course had a supplementary materials list. The closest proportion of courses with a supplementary materials list and students who said their course had a supplementary materials list was among courses offered through the Faculty of Science. In all faculties, it was found that there were courses without a supplementary materials list and there were students who did not identify the supplementary materials list in the course.

It was found that the percentage of courses that had a supplementary materials list (70%) was higher than the percentage of library users that recognized the supplementary materials list in their course (65%). The proportion of library users that said the supplementary materials list was essential to their course (29 out of 37) was higher than the proportion of library users that said their course had a supplementary materials list (35 out of 54). The perception that the supplementary materials list is essential to the course package, then, was greater than the actual recognition of the supplementary materials list in the course package.

In summary, library users were asked about their awareness and use of the supplementary materials list. A total of 54 student library users identified their course and 35 of those said their course had a supplementary materials list. Grouped by faculty, library users taking an Arts course had the highest percentage (74%), of students reporting their course had a supplement materials list. Students taking a Science course had the next highest percentage (71%), while only 13% of students in an Administrative Studies course reported that their course had a supplementary materials list.

42

Library users were asked whether the supplementary materials list was an essential component of the course package. Of 37 respondents, 29 said yes. The majority of comments made by respondents were favorable and most respondents, although not necessarily having time to use supplementary materials, recognize the value of the use of the supplementary materials list to their course.

A total of 84 courses were identified by library users; a supplementary materials list was found to be included in 59 of them. When grouped by faculty offering the course, almost all Faculty of Arts courses had a supplementary materials list (96%). Faculty of Science courses had the next highest proportion, followed by Faculty of Administrative Studies, 47% and 32% respectively.

### 4. Student Awareness and Use of Computers

With respect to the use of computers, all students were asked to indicate whether they owned or had access to a computer. Table 17 shows that two-thirds of the students said they either own or have access to a computer. One-quarter of those students who owned or had access to a computer also had use of a modem which would be required for remote access to AUCAT, the online public access catalog of Athabasca University Library. Among students who owned or had access to a computer, continuing students and new students were well represented, 63% and 75% respectively. It is interesting to note that a slightly higher proportion of new students reported that they owned or had access to a computer than did continuing students. While fewer students had a modem with their computer, continuing students and new students were almost equally represented, 28% and 24% respectively.

Almost half of all student respondents indicated that they had used a computerized library catalog. However, only sixteen students indicated that they knew AUCAT, the Athabasca University Library Catalog, was on computer. This figure is not surprising as AUCAT has not been advertised. It must be pointed out, however, that students are informed that AUCAT is available for their use at the Learning Centres. Comments provided on the questionnaire affirmed, however, that students are eager to access the Library catalog on a remote basis if possible.

43

	Table 17. S	tudent Acco	ess to Comp	uter and Mo	odem	
Computer	Ne Number	w Percent	Stude Contir Number		Tot Number	al Percent
Yes No Total	71 <u>_36</u> 107	66% _ <u>34</u> 100%	100 <u>-58</u> 158	63% _ <u>37</u> 100%	171 <u>_94</u> 265	65% _ <u>35</u> 100%
Computer With Modem	Students New Continuing Number Percent Number Percent			Total Number Percent		
Yes No Total	16 _ <u>51</u> 67	24% <u>76</u> 100%	29 <u>73</u> 102	28% _ <u>72</u> 100%	45 <u>124</u> 169	27% <u>73</u> 100%

Many students made comments about how remote access to the Library catalog might affect their studies at Athabasca University. Of the 193 comments, 107 (55%) were positive and suggested that remote access to AUCAT would enhance or improve studies at Athabasca University. The remaining comments were neutral, indicating that remote access would make no difference in studies at Athabasca University. The following selection of comments represented student views in general.

"It would be grand. I would get a modem for sure."

"In a word: ENHANCE."

"Information at your fingertip (how great!)."

"Would make me more aware of pertinent data."

"It would make selection of appropriate material easier and faster."

"Access to the library catalog will definitely be an asset as I proceed to higher levels of study where extra materials will be necessary to understand more complex ideas."

"Access through remote would would tell me quickly what the Athabasca Library contains. I would likely borrow more materials from Athabasca with remote access."

"With remote access to the Athabasca University Library Catalog I would probably be able to find out how much additional information was available on a particular topic."

"Excellent idea!! I would purchase a modem specifically for AU courses."

"I can't afford a computer. I wish I could. It would greatly increase my academic efficiency."

"I don't think this type of access would affect my studies at all. The suggested lists of supplementary reading are probably sufficient. I don't feel a need to peruse the library catalogues, at

this point, anyway."

"In my situation it wouldn't make a difference."

"I'd have to investigate it."

"It would be great for those with access, but may give an advantage to only a few."

"No effect at this time."

"I'm not sure how this system works."

On the basis of the number of students who own or have access to computers and on the basis of student comments supporting remote access to the library catalog, it would seem timely to implement remote access to AUCAT by students. However, when remote access is in place and evaluation of the effectiveness of the online library catalog is conducted, it will be interesting to determine whether the actual use of the library catalog follows the apparent anticipation of access to AUCAT that is evident in this study. The present study indicates that while 87% of the respondents to the survey indicated that they were aware of library services available to Athabasca University students, only 21% actually used library materials and only 16% used materials from Athabasca University Library. Similarly, while 41% of the respondents to the survey indicated that library materials are essential for success in Athabasca University courses, only 21% actually used library materials.

Unlike the supplementary materials list which is static upon production (until the next course revision), AUCAT is dynamic, as materials are continually added to the library holdings. AUCAT would be comprehensive while the supplementary materials list is selective. Furthermore, upon accessing AUCAT, students could verify the circulation status of specific items of interest to them.

It is not expected that the supplementary materials list would be eliminated or replaced in the near future, as there are students who do not, for various reasons, own or have access to computers and modems. It would not be in the Library's best interests to suggest elimination of the supplementary materials list and possibly create a barrier to a student's use of the library. Rather the Library should promote awareness and use of the supplementary materials list. It is anticipated that remote access to AUCAT will facilitate access to the library catalog, and enhance the provision of library services to Athabasca University students.

#### **Summary of Findings**

The typical student is 30 to 39 years of age, is female, and is taking her first Athabasca University course. She is most likely enrolled in a Faculty of Arts course.

Almost all students are aware that library services are provided by Athabasca University to Athabasca University students, and more than half know the request procedure for obtaining materials Athabasca University Library. One-third of the students indicated that the use of library material is essential to courses taken at Athabasca University. At the same time, however, most students do not u library materials for their courses. Among those who do, most of them used Athabasca University Lib while a few used local libraries. Most students who borrowed materials from Athabasca University Li were satisfied with both the material and the time it took for the material to arrive.

It was found that some library users made use of the supplementary materials list that accompar most Athabasca University course packages. Over half of the library users indicated that the supplementary materials list is an essential component of the course materials package and that it con items that were relevant to their courses.

The majority of students own or have access to a computer and modem and, according to their comments, would make use of remote access to AUCAT, the online public access catalog of Athabas University Library so they can search the holdings of the library and then request material.

#### Chapter V

#### Discussion

It was anticipated at the outset of this study that the findings would be of benefit to Athabasca University Library, to course development teams at Athabasca University, and to individuals working in the specialization of distance education librarianship. Some assessment of the study's implications is presented below for each of these areas.

# Athabasca University Library

The findings presented in this thesis indicate that 21% of active Athabasca University students have "red library materials, and most of them used Athabasca University Library. At the same time, 87% of the students were aware that library services are available to them and 55% knew the procedures to request materials from Athabasca University Library. These figures follow a similar pattern reported in the study of Massey University students. Auger and Tremaine reported that 95% of the respondents to their survey knew about the library services provided by Massey University while only 43% of the respondents reported that they borrowed library materials from the Massey University Library (Auger and Tremaine, 1987, p. vi). A requirement of students to use library materials for their course work would result in an increase of the percentage of student use of library materials and thus narrow the gap between student awareness of library services and the actual use of library materials.

While positive comments were made by students about the library services provided to them, it is important that efficient, expedient, and prompt service be maintained. It is important that at least a minimal reference interview be conducted by the library staff member with the student whenever possible. By doing so, the library staff member who takes the student's request will have a better understanding of the student's request; if the student then requests specific material and the materials are available, the request can be filled; if, on the other hand, the materials are not available, a selection of substitute materials can be sent to the student. This is only possible when the subject of the student's request is known.

It is essential that a student complete his or her first Athabasca University course if there is to be any chance of the student taking further studies towards a certificate or degree through Athabasca University. Most students are currently enrolled in one course. This suggests that students try to take an Athabasca University course for a variety of reasons. This "first" experience, therefore, must be positive; success in the first course must be cultivated. Only when there are returning students, when there are increases in the number of students taking more than one course, or having completed more than one course, and when students indicate that they are taking certificate and degree programs will Athabasca University be able to claim it is meeting the objective identified in the *Athabasca University Mission Statement*, namely facilitating student success in university-level studies.

On the basis of student comments, Athabasca University and the Library should proceed to initiate and establish the necessary protocols, procedures, and technical requirements for remote access by students to the library catalog. That well over half of all students in the sample indicated they own or have access to a computer suggests that students are waiting for remote access to the catalog to be made available to them.

With respect to the supplementary materials list, it is suggested that it be maintained as an integral component of the course package and that more awareness and use of it be promoted. Promotion of the supplementary materials list could be accomplished by providing more information about it to students in the description of library services, through orientation materials, and through the use of specific direction to the supplementary materials list in the course materials.

The Library must be more active in the selection process of materials to be included on the supplementary materials list so the collection will support all Athabasea University courses and the library staff will be familiar with titles in the collection. The Library should maintain and endeavor to improve the selection process for materials added to the collection. It is important that there be sufficient supplementary materials to support each course offered by Athabasea University.

It is important that the Library work closely with course development teams, improve dialog with them, and endeavor to have a more complete understanding of the course development process, and the objectives of each course. At the same time, it is important that course development teams understand more fully how the Library functions and the significance of library research to a university-level education to ensure that appropriate and sufficient materials are in the collection when the course is developed. While it is essential that library staff have at least a minimal level of understanding of the objectives and the assignments for each course if they are to select library materials to send to students to help them complete assignments, it is also essential that the course coordinator and appropriate team members have at least a minimal understanding of how the library can support the course for which it is responsible. The result of more proactive input by the Library at the preliminary stages of course development will mean the Library will not have to "catch up" when the course is open and there are requests by students for materials. Rather, the Library will be ready to meet the information needs of students in Athabasca University courses.

# Course Development Teams at Athabasca University

While the findings indicate that 21% of the students used library materials, and well over half of the courses identified had a supplementary materials list in the course package, not all students knew the course had a supplementary materials list. It may be overly simplistic to state that more students should be made aware of the supplementary materials list. The supplementary materials list could, however, be introduced in the prelimary portion of the course materials and mentioned at several points in the course materials. It would be expected that students then, who were not sure what the supplementary materials list is, would look for it and thus be made aware of it. It is important that all courses at Athabasca University include a requirement that each student develop a basic level of library research skill.

Students, as evidenced in their responses to the survey, indicate that they receive sufficient materials in the course package to complete the course. The complete course package is a positive aspect of courses offered by Athabasca University. However, the complete course package must not, nor can it be, a substitute for the development of independent research skills. Course development teams should re-evaluate the concept of the complete course package and determine if it should remain fundamental to the way Athabasca University delivers its courses. With respect to library services, however, each course package should include a more definitive introduction to Athabasca University Library and library use in general. This will especially be necessary should remote access to AUCAT be extended to students. At that time it will become necessary that comprehensive instructions be included in each course package for connecting to the online catalog, searching the catalog for appropriate materials, and borrowing materials.

Rather than replacing the supplementary materials list with remote access to AUCAT, more attention must be given to the supplementary materials list. The supplementary materials list should remain integral to, if not become more integral, to the course materials package. The supplementary materials list should serve as a reference tool from which students should be encouraged to begin their library research. Through the preliminary pages of each course, the student should be introduced to the supplementary materials list and other library services available to him or her that would contribute to and/or enhance the educational experience. In so doing, success in studies will be cultivated and most likely promoted.

It is necessary that any information the Library would want to make available to students be incorporated into the course package. This would require close cooperation between the Library and the course development teams.

## **Distance Education Librarianship**

The findings of this study indicate that almost all students of Athabasca University are aware of library services available to them. While the course maintain nackage may be sufficient, students do avail themselves of library materials as needed.

This study suggests that distance education students have computers and are prepared to access library catalogs and increase their awareness and use of library materials.

The provision of library service to distance education students is complex. While students are aware of library services, the coursework may not require them to actually use library materials. While students may believe that the use of library materials is essential to complete a course, relatively few students actually use library materials to complete their courses. It is clear that the Library should continue its present course in meeting the challenge of removing barriers that would traditionally restrict access to and success in university level studies.

Distance education librarianship is a particularly unique specialty. One of the requirements to successfully providing library services to students is to first of all educate and inform them that library services are available. Students then must be informed not only of the library services of the institution in which they are enrolled, but of additional services that may be available to students in their communities. There is a need, in general, for library and/or bibliographic instruction in all educational settings.

There are opportunities for institutions to cooperate in the provision of library services to students and engage in a collective, more universal or cooperative approach to education. This could simply mean that library services, especially borrowing privileges, be made available to students other than those of the specific institution in which they are enrolled. It is hoped that this thesis will contribute to that and other goals in the distance education movement.

#### Bibliography

- Allen, G. G. (1982). "The role of the library in higher education and the implications for the external mode of study: An Australian perspective." *Higher Education* Vol.11,no.5(Sept. 1982):531-542.
- Appavoo, Patricia J. (1986). "Athabasca University Library comes of age A case study of planning for and coping with change." Paper presented at the Off-Campus Library Services Conference (Reno, Nevada, October 23-24, 1986). Mount Pleasant, Michigan: Central Michigan University Press.
- Appavoo, Patricia J. (1985). "Library and information access in distance education: The role of technology." Paper presented at the International Council for Distance Education, Thirteenth World Conference (Melbourne, Australia, August 13-20, 1985) (ERIC Document ED 285 608).
- Appavoo, Patricia J., and Lorin Hansen (1988). "Profile of the distance education library user." Paper presented at the Off-Campus Library Services Conference (Charleston, South Carolina, October 21-22, 1988). Mount Pleasant, Michigan: Central Michigan University Press.
- Athabasca University (1985). Mission Statement and Long-Term Plan. Athabasca: Athabasca University.
- Auger, Philippa, and Marianne Tremaine (1987). Users and Non-Users: An Investigation Into the Reasons why the Majority of Extramural Students at Massey University do not Use the Extramural Library Service (Massey University Library Series, No. 19). Palmerston North, New Zealand: Massey University Library.
- Burge, Elizabeth J., Judith Snow, and Joan Howard (1989). "Interactive libraries: Dimensions of interdependence." Paper presented at the International Council for Distance Education Conference (Cambridge, England, September 19-22, 1989) (ERIC Document ED 311 907).
- Burge, Elizabeth J., Judith E. Snow, and Joan L. Howard (1988). Developing Partnerships: An Investigation of Library-based Relationships with Students and Educators Participating in Distance Education in Northern Ontario. Toronto: Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.
- Crocker, Christine (1986). "Getting it right down under: Off-campus library services in Australia." Paper presented at the Off-Campus Library Services Conference (Reno, Nevada, October 23-24, 1986). Mount Pleasant, Michigan: Central Michigan University Press.
- Crocker, Christine, and Craig Grimison (1989). Library Services for External Students: A Guide. Sydney: Library Association of Australia.
- Dale, Sheila, and Guus Schippers (1967). "Back-up resources for distance learning: Overview and examples from the Dutch and British Open Universities." Paper presented at the 53rd International Federation of Library Associations (IFLA) General Conference (Brighton, England, August 16-21, 1987) (ERIC Document ED 299 998).
- Fisher, Raymond (1985). "Off-campus students and readings: A yardstick of academic standards?" Paper presented at the Off-Campus Library Services Conference (Knoxville, Tennessee, April 18-19, 1985). Mount Pleasant, Michigan: Central Michigan University Press.

- Fisher, Raymond (1981). "Library services for university adult education: A neglected area." Adult Education Vol.53,no.6(1981):372-375.
- Fisher, Raymond, and Rosemary Bolton (1987). Library Services for Extramural Courses: The Results of a Survey 1987. Birmingham, UK: University of Birmingham, Extramural Library.
- Garrison, D.R. (1989). Understanding Distance Education: A Framework for the Future. London: Routledge.
- Harry, Keith (1985). "A Selective bibliography on study centres and their functions, and on the applications of new technology in student support." In An Australian Casebook of Study Centres in Distance Education (pp. 113-130). Angela S. Castro, Kevin T. Livingston and Paul H. Northcott, (eds.). Geelong: Deakin University Distance Education Unit.
- Haworth, D. Elaine (1982). "Library services to the off-campus and independent learner: A review of the literature." Journal of Librarianship Vol.14(July 1982):157-175.
- Jackson, Miles M. (1983). "Distance learning and libraries in the Pacific Islands." International Library Review Vol.15,no.2(April 1983):177-184.
- Kascus, Marie, and William Aguilar (1988). "Providing library support to off-campus programs." College and Research Libraries Vol.49, no.1 (January 1988):29-37.
- Keegan, Desmond (1990). Foundations of Distance Education (2nd ed.). London: Routledge.
- Konrad, Abram, and James Small (1989). "Collaboration in distance education." In Post-Secondary Distance Education in Canada: Policies, Practices and Priorities (pp. 197-203). Robert Sweet, (ed.). Athabasca: Athabasca University.
- Latham, Sheila, Alexander L. Slade, and Carol Budnick (1991). Library Services for Off-Campus and Distance Education: An Annotated Bibliography. Ottawa: Canadian Library Association.
- Marsterson, W.A.J., and T.D. Wilson (1975). "Home based students and libraries." Libri Vol.25,no.3(Sept.):213-226.
- McCabe, Gerard B. (1983). "Library services for the distant learner: The Clarion State College Libraries" experience." Paper presented at the Annual Conference of the National University Continuing Education Association (Reno, Nevada, April 1983) (ERIC Document ED 232 684).

Mugridge, Ian, and David Kaufman, eds. (1986). Distance Education in Canada. London: Croom Helm.

- Payne, Philip (cd.) (1983). The Part-Time Student in the Library. London: City of London Polytechnic Library and Lending Service.
- Ruby, Carmela (1987). "Meeting and supporting learners' needs in distance education." Paper presented at the 53rd International Federation of Library Associations (IFLA) General Conference (Brighton, England, August 16-21, 1987) (ERIC Document ED 299 998).
- Salisu, T. M. (1984). "The library and the open university system." International Library Review Vol.16, no.1 (Jan. 1984):35-43.
- Shklanka, Olga (1990). "Off-campus library services: A literature review." Research in Distance Education Vol.2, no.4 (October):2-11.

- Slade, Alexander L. (1988). "The second Canadian off-campus library services survey, 1988. Final report." Victoria: University of Victoria (ERIC Document ED 305 074).
- Slade, Alexander L. (1986). "Thirteen key ingredients in off-campus library services: A Canadian perspective." Paper presented at the Off-campus Library Services Conference (Reno, Nevada, October 23-24, 1986). Mount Pleasant, Michigan: Central Michigan University Press.
- Slade, Alexander L. (1985). "Canadian off-campus library services survey." Victoria: University of Victoria (ERIC Document ED 291 382).
- Smyrnew, John (1983). Characteristics of Athabasca University Students (Institutional Studies Report, No.5). Edmonton: Athabasca University.
- Ul-Hassan, Mahmud (1984). "The Allama Iqbal Open University Library." International Library Review Vol.16,no.1(Jan. 1984):45-57.
- Wijesinghe, Malini N. (1988). "Provision of library resources for open university students in Sri Lanka." Library Acquisitions: Practice and Theory Vol.12,no.3/4(1988):297-302.
- Wolf, Marjorie Ann (1951). Library Extension Services of the Colleges and Universities of the United States: A Bibliographic Survey (Master's thesis). Western Reserve University.

### Appendix 1

Ouestions for the SML Telephone Survey (Pilot Study)

- 1. Age group 🗌 under 20 🗌 20-29 🛄 30-39 🛄 40-49 🛄 50+
- 2. Gender 🗌 Male 🛛 Female
- 3. How many AU courses have you completed?  $\Box 0 \Box 1-3 \Box 4-6 \Box 7-9 \Box 10+$
- 4. How many AU courses are you currently enrolled in? 1 12 13 14 15
- 5. Do you consider use of the AU library essential for success in your AU courses?
- 6. What kinds of library materials are usually required for your AU courses?
- 7. What is the primary reason you request library materials? list reason briefly \_\_\_\_\_\_
- 8. What is (are) the primary sources for library materials you request from the AU library?
- 9. How often do you consult the SML for library materials?

10. Do you tell the Library the subject of your assignment?  $\Box$  Yes  $\Box$  No

11. Would you prefer the library to send you materials on your topic in addition to those you specifically request?  $\Box$  Yes  $\Box$  No

12 If the AU library does not have the material you request, do you try to obtain the material elsewhere?  $\Box$  Yes  $\Box$  No

13. In your opinion, is the SML an essential component of your course package?

□Yes □No

14. In your opinion, should the SML provide information about material not owned by AU Library so that students can try to get the material elsewhere?

□Yes □No

15. What suggestions do you have for the AU Library to improve service to you?

Appendix 2

## 19 February 1991

From: Steve Schafer

To: Pretesting participants

Subject: Pretesting of survey questionnaire

Thank you for kindly agreeing to participate in the pretesting of this survey questionnaire. Your help is very much appreciated and important to the research upon which my thesis will be based. I am concerned that the survey questionnaire be as clear as possible, free from anything that is poorly worded, ambiguous, or difficult to understand.

Please work through the questionnaire as if you had received it through the mail. When you are finished, note any areas of the questionnaire in which you experienced difficulty with respect to directions, wording, meaning of a word, or anything else that was confusing or unclear.

Please return the questionnaire, with your comments, to me in a sealed envelope before 22 February 1991. Be assured that I will handle the questionnaire you return to me (with your comments) in the most anonymous and confidential manner that is possible. I will review all comments and perhaps follow up with a brief telephone call to confirm that I did receive the pretest questionnaire and to review the comments that you made. My intention is to incorporate into the final draft of the survey form any suggestions that will contribute to the quality of the survey questionnaire before mailing it out for real the first part of March 1991.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at 675-6259, 675-4947, or email: steves@cs.athabascau.ca.

Again, thanks,

Steve

Appendix 3

11 March 1991

Dear Athabasca University student:

I would appreciate your cooperation in completing the attached survey form and returning it to me in the addressed, postage-paid envelope.

The objective of this survey is to gather information about Athabasca University student use of the supplementary materials list. This is only the second survey of its type at Athabasca University and it is being conducted as the basis for my thesis research for the degree of Master of Library and Information Studies (MLIS) at the University of Alberta. The research is supported by the Athabasca University Library.

It is anticipated that the information gathered through this survey will help to evaluate the library services provided to Athabasca University students, especially as our library services and the supplementary materials list are closely related.

Please be assured that every effort will be made to handle all information received in the most anonymous and confidential manner possible. No student, name, identification number, or library referred to will be identified in any verbal or written report of this project. Your participation in this survey is important and voluntary.

Please complete the attached questionnaire and return it in the addressed, postage-paid envelope by March 25, 1991, or as soon as possible. Please note that you may be among those students selected for brief follow-up by telephone in April; your participation in this would also be voluntary. If you have any questions about the survey, please call me collect at (403) 675-6259.

Thank you for your cooperation and participation.

Yours truly,

Steve Schafer Reference Librarian

Enclosures

# Appendix 4 Survey of Student Use of the Supplementary Materials List

Please base your answers to the following questions on your experience as an Athabasca University student. Be assured that no individual, student name, identification number, or library will be identified in any verbal or written report of this survey. All information will remain anonymous; your participation is voluntary.

## Section A. Student Profile

- (1) Age group: under 20 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60 or more years
- (2) Gender: Male Female
- (3) Highest level of education attained:

   Elementary Secondary Some courses beyond secondary

   Post-secondary diploma Post-secondary degree

   Other (Please specify)
- (4) Faculty currently enrolled in at Athabasca University:
- (5) Number of Athabasca University courses currently enrolled in:  $1 \ 2 \ 3 \ 4 \ 5 \ 5$  More than 5

# Section B. Profile of Library Use Based on a Current Course

Please identify the Athabasca University course that you are **currently enrolled in** and answer the following questions about it. (If you are enrolled in more than one course, select the one course that you are nearest to completing, and answer the following questions about it). Course name and number \_\_\_\_\_\_

- Have you borrowed library materials for this course? □ Yes □ No If NO, go to Section C. General Library Experience, on page 3.
- (2) What types of library materials have you borrowed? Books Journal articles Audio materials Video materials Other (Picase specify)
- (3) On what basis did you select the library materials that you borrowcd?

   Specific library materials 
   Library materials based on a subject
   Combination of both
   (Please elaborate)

(4)	From which library or libraries have you borrowed library materials?
• •	Athabasca University Library
	Other library (Please identify)

If you did NOT check Athabasca University Library, please go to question 9.

- (5) If you have borrowed library materials from Athabasca University Library, how did you request them? Telephone Mail FAX In-person (Check all that apply)
- (6) If you have borrowed library materials from Athabasca University Library, how many times have you made requests for therary materials? \_\_\_\_\_ (Times)
- Were you satisfied with the Athabasca University library materials you received?
   Yes No Partially (Please comment)

(8) Were you satisfied with the time it took for the Athabasca University library materials to arrive? Yes No Partially (Please comment)

.

(9) Does the contract yest are enrolled in have a Supplementary Materials List?

If YES, please answer the following questions.

If NO or NOT SURE, go to question 4, in Section C. General Library Experience, on page 4.

(10) Are the materials on the Supplementary Materials List relevant to the course you are taking? Yes No Partially Not sure (Please comment)

(11)	Have you requested library materials listed on the Supplementary Materials List from a library other than Athabasca University Library?  Yes No
	If YES, were you successful in getting those library materials from another library? □ Yes □ No
	If you were NOT successful, describe the reasons why you did not get those library materials.
(12)	In your opinion, is the Supplementary Materials List an essential component of the course packa Yes No (Please comment)
(13)	Are you enrolled in two or more Athabasca University courses? []Yes []No If YES, would you say that your library experience with this course is typical of the other course courses that you are enrolled in? []Yes []No (Please comment)
	·
(14	) Go to question 4 in Section C. General Library Experience, on page 4.
Sect	ion C. General Library Experience
(1)	Please explain why you have not borrowed library materials for this course.
(2)	Are you aware that Athabasca University provides library services to registered students?
(3)	Do you know the procedure for requesting library materials from Athabasca University Librar

•

(4)	In your opinion, is it essential to use library materials to complete an Athabasca University course?

(Please comment)

(5) Have you ever used a library catalog on computer?  $\Box$  Yes  $\Box$  No

- (6) Do you know whether or not Athabasca University's library catalog is currently available on computer to students?  $\Box$  Yes  $\Box$  No  $\Box$  Not sure
- (7) Do you presently own or have access to a computer? □ Yes □ No If YES, does it have a modern for remote access? □ Yes □ No
- (8) If the Athabasca University Library catalog were available to you through remote access, please comment on how you think access to it might affect your studies with Athabasca University.
- (9) Please feel free to make any additional comments about the Supplementary Materials List and/or Athabasca University Library.

Thank you for contributing to this project. Please return the survey form in the envelope provided, by March 25,1991, to:

Athabasca University Library Steve Schafer Box 10,000 Athabasca, AB TOG 2R0

This mail survey questionnaire has been approved by the Ethics Review Committee, Faculty of Library and Information Studies, University of Alberta. If you have any questions or comments, please contact Dr. Alvin Schrader, thesis supervisor, at (403) 492-4578.

# Appendix 5 Survey of Student Use of the Supplementary Materials List

Please base your answers to the following questions on your experience as an Athabasca University student. Be assured that no individual, student name, identification number, or library will be identified in any verbal or written report of this survey. All information will remain anonymous; your participation is voluntary.

## Section A. Student Profile

- (1) Age group: under 20 20-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60 or more years
- (2) Gender: 🗌 Male 🗍 Female
- (3) Highest level of education attained:

   Elementary Secondary Some courses beyond secondary

   Post-secondary diploma Post-secondary degree

   Other (Please specify)
- (4) Faculty currently enrolled in at Athabasca University:
- (5) Number of Athabasca University courses currently enrolled in:
- (6) Number of Athabasca University courses completed: 1 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 or more

## Section B. Profile of Library Use Based on Most Recent Completed Course

Please identify the Athabasca University course that you completed most recently and answer the following questions about it. Course name and number \_\_\_\_\_\_

- Did you borrow library materials to complete the course? □ Yes □ No If NO, please go to Section C. General Library Experience, on page 3.
- (2) What types of library materials did you borrow? Books Journal articles Audio materials Video materials Other (Please specify)
- On what basis did you select the library materials that you borrowed?
   Specific library materials
   Library materials based on a subject
   Combination of both
   (Please elaborate)

If you did NOT check Athabasca University Library, please go to question 9.

- If you borrowed library materials from Athabasca University Library, how did you request them?
   Telephone Mail FAX In-person (Check all that apply)
- (6) If you borrowed library materials from Athabasca University Library, how many times did you make requests for library materials? \_\_\_\_\_ (Times)
- Were you satisfied with the Athabasca University library materials you received?
   Yes No Partially (Please comment)
- (8) Were you satisfied with the time it took for the Athabasca University library materials to arrive? Yes No Partially (Please comment)

(9) Did the course you completed include a Supplementary Materials List? ☐ Yes ☐ No ☐ Not sure

If YES, please answer the following questions. If NO or NOT SURE, go to question 4, in Section C. General Library Experience, on page 4.

(10) Were the materials on the Supplementary Materials List relevant to the course you completed?

----
(11)	Did you request library materials listed on the Supplementary Materials List from a library other
	than Athabasca University? 🗌 Yes 🗌 No

If YES, were you successful in getting those library materials from another library?  $\Box$  Yes  $\Box$  No If you were NOT successful, describe the reasons why you did not get those library materials.

(12)	In your opinion, is the Supplementary Materials List an essential component of the course package? Yes No (Please comment)
	Have you completed two or more Athabasca University courses? If YES, would you say that your library experience with this course was typical of the other course or courses that you completed? Yes No (Please comment)
(14)	Go to question 4 in Section C. General Library Experience, on page 4.
Secti	on C. General Library Experience
(1)	Please explain why you did not borrow library materials for this course.
(2)	Are you aware that Athabasca University provides library services to registered students?
(3)	Do you know the procedure for requesting library materials from Athabasca University Library?

In your opinion, is it essential to use library materials to complete an Athabasca University cours Yes No
(Flease comment)
Have you ever used a library catalog on computer? 🗌 Yes 🗌 No
Do you know whether or not Athabasca University's library catalog is currently available to students on computer? $\Box$ Yes $\Box$ No $\Box$ Not sure
Do you presently own or have access to a computer? 🗍 Yes 🗌 No
If YES, does it have a modern for remote access? I Yes No
If the Athabasca University Library catalog were available to you through remote access, please
comment on how you think access to it might affect your studies with Athabasca University.
An and the second se
Please feel free to make any additional comments about the Supplementary Materials List and/ Athabasca University Library.
Autobased Chirolony Ziolacy.
Thank you for contributing to this project. Please return the survey form in the envelope provide
by March 25,1991, to:
Athabasca I Iniversity Library

Athabasca University Library Steve Schafer Box 10,000 Athabasca, AB TOG 2R0

This mail survey questionnaire has been approved by the Ethics Review Committee, Faculty of Library and Information Studies, University of Alberta. If you have any questions or comments, please contact Dr. Alvin Schrader, thesis supervisor, at (403) 492-4578.

### Appendix 6:

.

	Student Use of the Supplementary Materials List						
Column	Q#	Var. Name*	r. Name* Var. Label Value L				
1-3			respondent #	001-269			
4	Q 1	A.1	age	0=no response 1=under 20 2=20-29 3=30-39 4=40-49 5=50-59 6=60 or more years			
5	Q2	A.2	gender	0=no response 1=male 2=female			
6	Q3	A.3	highest ed	0=no response 1=elementary 2=secondary 3=courses>secondary 4=post-second dip 5=post-second degree 6=other			
7	Q4	A.4	AU faculty	0=no response 1=admin 2=arts 3=science 4=undeclared			

**66** 

8	Q5	A.5	courses in	0=no response 1=1 2=2 3=3 4=4 5=5 6=>5
9-10	Q6	A.6	courses completed	00=no response 01=1 02=2 03=3 04=4 05=5 06=6 07=7 08=8 09=9 10=10 or more 99=no courses (alt.form)
11-17	Q7	B.0	AU course	XXXX###
18	Q8	B.1	use lib materials	0=no response 1=yes 2=no
19-23 19 20 21 22 23	Q9	B.2 B.2a B.2b B.2c B.2d B.2d B.2e	type lib material book journal audio video other	O=not checked 1=checked 0=not checked 1=checked 0=not checked 1=checked 0=not checked 1=checked 0=not checked 1=checked 1=checked

24-26 24 25 26	Q10	B.3 B.3a B.3b B.3c	select basis item topic combination	0=not checked 1=checked 0=not checked 1=checked 0=not checked 1=checked
27-28 27 28	Q 11	B.4 B.4a B.4b	library used AU other	0=not checked 1=checked 0=not checked 1=checked
29-32 29 30 31 32	Q 12	B.5 B.5a B.5b B.5c B.5d	how made request telephone mail FAX inperson	0=not checked 1=checked 0=not checked 1=checked 0=not checked 1=checked 0=not checked 1=checked
33-34	Q 13	B.6	# requests	00=no response 01=1 02=2 03=3 04=4 (ctc.)
35	Q 14	B.7	satisfied material	0=no response 1=yes 2=no 3=partially

		r		]
36	Q 15	B.8	satisfied time	0=no response 1=yes 2=no 3=partially
37	Q 16	В.9	course have sml	0=no response 1=yes 2=no 3=not sure
38	Q 17	B.10	sml relevant	0=no response 1=yes 2=no 3=partially 4=not sure
39	Q 18	B.11a	request sml mat. other	0=no response 1=yes 2=no
40	Q 19	B.11b	successful	0=no response 1=yes 2=no
41	Q 20	B.12	sml essential	0=no response 1=yes 2=no
42	Q 21	B.13a	completed/enrolled 2>	0=no response 1=yes 2=no

43	Q 22	B.13b	typical	0=no response 1=yes 2=no
44	Q 23	C.2	aware AU lib service	0=no response 1=ycs 2=no
45	Q 23	C.3	know request procedure	0=no response 1=yes 2=no
4ó	Q 25	C.4	lib mat, essential	0=no response 1=ycs 2=no
47	Q 26	C.5	used computer lib cat.	0=no response 1=yes 2=no
48	Q 27	C.6	know AU cat.on computer	0=no response 1=yes 2=no 3=not sure
49	Q 28	Ca	own/access computer	0=no response 1=yes 2=no

.

50	Q 29	С.7ь	modem	0=no response 1=yes 2=no
----	------	------	-------	--------------------------------

\*This version of SPSSx uses Var. Name, which means Var. Number

.

# Survey of Student Use of the Supplementary Materials List Coding Structure for Open Comments

The responses for the open comments on the survey of student use of the supplementary materials list will be done by putting them in flat ASCII files on the UNIX system. Each answer to an open question will be typed on one row only. Each row is later to be read by a computer program as a single field or single answer to a question. The length of the wraparound of a response does not matter.

In the following table the question numbers are identified on the left along with the corresponding row number and variable label. If there is no response for a question then an "#" is entered in the first column of the row normally used for responses to that question. At the end of the open responses for a given respondent one (1) blank row is left before going on to the next respondent.

The question numbers and corresponding rows are as follows:

Open Question Coding				
Question Number	Row Number	Label		
Entry number	1	entry number		
B 3	2	basis for selecting library materials		
В7	3	satisfied with materials received		
B 8	4	satisfied with time materials arrive		
B 10	5	materials on sml relevant to course		
B 11	6	why did not receive materials from other library		
B 12	7	smlessential		
B 13	8	typical experience		
C 1	9	why did not borrow library library materials		

C 4	10	essential to use e materials
C 8	11	how online library catalog may affect studies
C 9a	12	comments about sml
С 9b	13	comments about AU Library

.

-

Registrations in Specific Courses Identified by Respondents           Course         Students         Course         Students							
Course	Students	Course	Stutents	Course	orudenta		
ACCT251	2	FNCE349	1	NURS432	1		
ACCT253	10	FNCE370	6	NURS450	1		
ACCT351	1	FREN100	7	NURS482	3		
ACCT451	1	FREN200	2	NUTR330	2		
ADMN232	12	FREN242	1	ORGB319	2		
ADMN233	1	FREN361	1	ORGB327	1		
ADMN371	4	FREN374	1	ORGB364	2		
ADMN373	1	FREN375	2	ORGB386	1		
ANTH275	3	GEOG261	1	PHIL252	10		
ANTH276	1	GEOG302	1	POL1309	2		
ANTH307	3	HIST224	2	POLI383	1		
BIOL230	11	HIST362	1	PSYC228	3		
BIOL341	3	HIST264	2	PSYC289	10		
COMM243	8	HIST30C	1	PSYC290	4		
COMM377	1	HIST323	1	PSYC343	2		
COMP203	2	HIST391	1	PSYC388	8		
COMP207	2	HIST367	1	PSYC389	1		
COMP268			1	PSYC402	2		
ECON246	8	HUMN249	2	PSYC435	1		
ECON247	6	IDRL311	1	PSYC455	1		
ENGL155	4	LGST331	1	SOAN384	1		
ENGL210	2	LGST369	4	SOAN385	1		
ENGL211	4	MATH215	13	SOC1287	1		
ENGL255	6	MATH270	2	SOCI316	5		
ENGL324	1	MATH376	1	SOCI365	4		
ENGL396	1	MGSC368	2	SOCI366	1		
ENGL431	1	MKTG398	2	TAXX301	2		
ENGL450	1	NURS425	3	WMST303	2		
	To	tal Courses = 84	(240 respon	ndents)			

Student Use of Library Materials by Academic Discipline							
Discipline (respondents)	Library Materials Borrowed by Students Yes No						
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent			
ACCT (15)	3	20%	12	80%			
ADMI- (18)	2	11%	16	89%			
ANTH (8)	2	25%	6	75%			
APST(1)	0	0	1	100%			
BIOL (16)	3	19%	13	81%			
COMM (9)	1	11%	8	89%			
COMP (5)	0	0%	5	100%			
ECON (14)	1	7%	13	93%			
ENGL (20)	7	35%	13	65%			
FNCE (7)	0	0%	7	100%			
FREN (14)	7	50%	7	50%			
GEOG (2)	0	0%	2	100%			
GEOL(1)	l o	0%	1	100%			
HIST(11)	3	27%	8	73%			
HUMN (2)	1	50%	1	50%			
IDRL(2)	0	0%	2	100%			
LGST(5)	0	0%	5	100%			
MATH (15)	0	0%	15	100%			
MGSC (2)	0	0%	2	100%			
MKTC (2)	0	0%	2	100%			
NURS (8)	4	50%	4	50%			
NUTR (2)	0	0%	2	100%			
ORGB (6)	1	17%	5	83,%			
PHIL (9)	1	11%	8	5,9%			
POLI (6)	5	83%	1	17%			
PSYC (32)	9	28%	23	72%			
SOAN (2)	1	50%	1	50%			
SOCI (12)	1	8%	11	92%			
TAXX (2)	1	50%	1	50%			
WMST (2)	1	50%	1	50%			
Total (250)	54	22%	196	78%			

Courses With a Supplementary M. List (SML) and Student Recognition of the SML							
Course	Students in Course	Students Recognizing SML	Course	Students in Course	Students Recognizing SML		
ADMN373	1	0	HUMN249	2	1 0		
ANTH275	3	0	IDRL311	1 2	0		
ANTH276	1	0	MKTG398				
ANTH307	3	1	NURS432	1	1		
BIOL230	11	1	NURS450	1	1		
ECON246	8	0	NURS482	3	0		
ECON247	6	0	NUTR330	2	0		
ENGL210	2	2	ORGB319 ORGB327		0		
ENGL211	4	1	ORGB364	2	0		
ENGL255	6	1	PHIL252	10			
ENGL324	1	1	PHIL232 POLI309	2	2		
ENGL396	1	0	POLI309 POLI383		1		
ENGL431	1	1	PSYC228	3	0		
ENGL450	1	1 3	PSYC289	10	3		
FREN100	7	0	PSYC290	4			
FREN200		0	PSYC343	2	Ö		
FREN242	1	0 0	PSYC388	8	0		
FREN361	-	0	PSYC389	1	0		
FREN374 FREN375		0	PSYC402	2	2		
GEOG261		0	PSYC435	1 1	0		
GEOG201 GEOG302	1	0	PSYC455	i	0		
HIST224	2	1	SOAN384	1 1	Ö		
HIST263		Ó	SOAN385	1	0		
HIST264	1	0	SOC1287	1	1		
HIST303	1	0	SOCI316	5	0		
HIST325	1	0	SOCI365	4	0		
HIST361	1	o o	TAXX301	2	0		
HIST367	1	1	WMST303	2	1		
HIST399	1	1					

(Araji, 1977). However, it is also evident that behavioral change is lagging behind this shift in ideology. While there is some evidence of a slightly increased involvement of fathers, there are also indications that men differ widely in the extent of their participation in family caretaking (Horschild, 1990; Lewis, 1986).

Cowan and Cowan (1987) have begun to explore factors that influence these differing levels of involvement. Antecedents for greater paternal involvement in child care include increased participation in household tasks, satisfaction with decision making, child-centred parenting attitudes and reduced hours of employment. Similar factors were identified (although not quantified) by the informants in this study. However, further research is needed to fully delineate the variables that affect male involvement in breastfeeding families.

Belsky and Volling (1987) note that the study of fathering demands that investigators consider other relationships within the family. Thus, the study of the fathers in a breastfeeding families requires consideration of the spousal relationship as well as parent-infant interaction. As the family is a system of interdependent relationships decisions about breastfeeding are inextricably linked to the negotiation of conjugal and parental roles. Questions that remain to be answered include how breastfeeding couples make decisions about breastfeeding and negotiate their roles.

There is evidence that fathering is mediated by couple interaction. (Lamb & Elster, 1985, Belsky & Volling, 1987). When mothers are positive about father involvement, fathers are more positive about being involved and more likely to participate in child caretaking activities (Dickie, 1987). One direct way that the husband-wife relationship can influence participation is through the wife's support of her husband as an active parent. Some surveys indicated that while a majority of men wanted to be more involved, 60 to 80 per cent of women did not want a change in the role structure of their family (Pleck, 1982). This has led some researcher to postulate a "gatekeeping" role for mothers (Boyd & Duncan, 1991). If mothers are acting as gatekeepers, it would be

expected that fathers, depending on their expectations of involvement would tend to feel excluded sooner. Their use of compensating factors may also be restricted by the gatekeeping spouse.

## Implications of the Findings.

It is important for all practitioners to examine research carefully prior to altering their practice based on the findings. Although these findings do not provide conclusive evidence which would demand major alterations in practice, the results can sensitize members of all disciplines to consider the breastfeeding relationship beyond the mother and infant. Despite the fact that men cannot breastfeed, the findings indicate they can and do make personal sacrifices and active contributions to successful breastfeeding. Adoption of a broader perspective of breastfeeding would enable all professionals to recognize and support these contributions. Although a physician may be concerned with medical problems associated with breastfeeding, e.g. mastitis, the treatment of women would be enhanced by understanding how the spouse may contribute to breastfeeding (i.e. his fathering style) and involving the spouse in the treatment plan in appropriate ways . Nutritionists can expand the scope of their teaching about the breastfeeding to include both the positive and negative aspects of breastfeeding from the male perspective.

Despite a purported commitment to family-centered care, clinical nursing interventions designed to promote breastfeeding tend to focus exclusively on the mother and her infant. As primary providers of childbirth and parent education programs it is both possible and necessary for nurses to remedy this situation. Towards this end several suggestions based on study findings and the researcher's clinical background are presented.

First, nurses must look beyond the myth of the "ideal" father who is openly nurturing and supportive of his partner and as emotionally involved in breastfeeding as his spouse. The findings of this study indicate that fathers exhibit a range of involvement that depends on their expectations and their home situations. By holding up an one standard, we condemn all fathers who do not meet the criteria to being "second-rate". Changing and conflicting expectations about the parental role can create enormous stress for new fathers (Dickie, 1987). Thus it is imperative that nurses not compound this problem by causing men to feel guilty and under pressure to conform.

At the most basic level of intervention, we need to review educational materials to detect any covert messages about "ideal" fathering versus those which encourage a range of options for father involvement. We also need to find ways to assess the appropriate level of involvement for individual fathers and encourage them to be participate in ways that are appropriate for them. Nurses who pride themselves on caring and individualized practice, need to accept these individual differences and promote varying capabilities. Only by doing this can both family and individual needs begin to be addressed.

Second, there is a need for a more comprehensive approach to providing realistic breastfeeding information to parents. Expansion of prenatal and postnatal class curricula is needed to place the social and emotional components of breastfeeding on par with the physical and physiological aspects. The father's perspective must be acknowledged and an examination of a couple's breastfeeding expectations, values and goals encouraged. Knowledge of the process of postponing can alert fathers to the negative effects of breastfeeding and information about various fathering styles can assist fathers to find a style that will work in their family.

We need only to listen to fathers in order to learn how to provide anticipatory guidance in a manner that is relevant and effective. When discussing prenatal classes one informant said, "everywhere you're surrounded by women. And you need to hear a man say, 'okay here's how I feel'." In an effort to provide this much needed perspective, one second-time father taught prenatal classes with his wife with the hope of providing guidance from a male perspective for other first time fathers. He shared his experience and the strategies he used to cope with the exigencies of life in a breastfeeding family. Because today's fathers enter parenthood with 1990s demands and an upbringing that reflects values of the 1950s or 1960s (Dickie, 1987), mentors may be an effective resource for providing guidance and direction to fathers in breastfeeding families.

Mentors or nurses could discuss strategies to make it easier for fathers to become involved in compensating behaviors. If feeding the infant is important to the father, strategies should be discussed to reduce the frustration of the baby refusing to take the bottle. Although giving supplemental bottles of formula early in the postpartum period can have detrimental effects on breastfeeding duration (Entwistle & Doering, 1980), fathers can be encouraged to give a bottle once breastfeeding is well established (approximately 4 to 6 weeks postpartum). Fathers need to be creative and change as many feeding variables as possible to encourage the child to feed. This may include attempting the feed when the mother is out of the room, or varying the position that the infant is fed in to reduce the association with breastfeeding.

As mothers can act as gatekeepers or mediators in a father-infant involvement, nurses can act as role models and give fathers equal opportunity, acceptance, recognition and encouragement from the beginning for his feelings and his efforts tea support breastfeeding.

## Suggestions for Further Research

The findings presented in the previous chapter are exploratory and lend themselves to further research. Insight about the father's involvement in the caretaking of the infant and his role in the decision to breastfeed occurred after data collection had been completed. As a result, further research on the factors influencing father's styles is needed to fully delineate and describe the variations that occur in this process.

As the informants were from a similar culture, of similar ages and had healthy, term, singleton infants, the relevance of the postponing process and the different fathering styles for other groups of men has not been determined. This study addressed only the fathers of healthy infants in the dominant Canadian culture, so that further investigation of other groups of fathers is necessary. For example, fathers of ill infants or of twins,

adolescent fathers and fathers from different ethnic groups have not been investigated and the fathering styles provisionally identified from this sample may not adequately portray their experience. Further development of the basic social psychological process of *postponing* and the fathering styles identified will require further sampling of diverse groups of fathers.

The use of volunteer informants resulted in only men who were supportive of breastfeeding being sampled. Investigation is needed to examine the dynamics of breastfeeding in families where males are not supportive of breastfeeding. It is recommended that these men be sought early in the prenatal period and followed longitudinally to determine how decisions regarding breastfeeding are made in these families and the male spouse's impact on breastfeeding and weaning.

Although the informants' main focus was the father-infant relationship. there were indications that they also postponed certain aspects of their spousal relationship. Detailed information on the sexual relationship was not volunteered in the interviews. It is not known if this was due: a) to the sex of the interviewer b) the need to protect the spousal relationship or c) it was not a factor. However, the focus entirely on the breastfeeding experience may have been too narrow. Although fathers reported that breastfeeding did change the sexual relationship, a more significant influence on this relationship might be the impact of having a new baby in the home. Determination of the greatest influence on the sexual relationship, the more global effect of a "new baby" versus the effects of "breastfeeding" cannot be determined from this study and should be investigated further.

Research is needed to investigate the sources, conditions and outcomes of commitment in breastfeeding for both males and females. More knowledge of the role of commitment in breastfeeding success may further our understanding of what occurs in breastfeeding families. It would also be interesting to investigate the relationship between styles of fathering and the patterns of weaning adopted in breastfeeding families. For instance would the wives of Supervisor fathers (who in this study sometimes wanted breastfeeding to continue longer than their wives wished to breastfeed) be more likely to use mixed feeding method, such as minimal breastfeeding (Morse & Harrison, 1988) to prolong weaning?

Further research is needed to determine if the BSPP *postponing* in the father-infant relationship has relevance for other areas. This would include other types of families where there is interference with the parent child relationship. Thus, postponing may have relevance for the noncustodial parent in divorced families.

#### Summary

This investigation explored breastfeeding from the perspective of the father and husband in a breastfeeding family with specific focus on the father-infant relationship. Although numerous breastfeeding studies have been conducted, an emphasis on examining biological and physiological factors have resulted in only a partial view of this complex phenomenon. Although breastfeeding is embedded in the context of the family and society as a whole, present research does not reflect this. Therefore, to broaden our knowledge of the context in which breastfeeding occurs, a grounded theory method was used to describe aspects of the male experience of breastfeeding.

A major focus of fathers in breastfeeding families is the father-infant relationship. The informants perceived differences in the nature of the relationship the child developed with each parent. In order to remain supportive of breastfeeding, fathers utilize a process of postponing. Postponing consists of five phases. The first phase, involves becoming aware of the differences in the relationships the child has with the father and mother. The next two stages include psychological means that the fathers use to accept the perceived difference and positive factors in the environment that make the disparity easier to accept. The men then begin to become more involved with their children and this increased activity compensates for the reduction in father-infant closeness because of breastfeeding.

The fathers were able to postpone their own gratification because they valued breastfeeding and they saw their child reaping its benefits. They were also able to

postpone because they believed that when breastfeeding ended the difference they now saw would no longer exist.

The present research should heighten health professionals' awareness of fathers' adjustment to breastfeeding and the importance of their role in the breastfeeding family. Health-care workers have long treated fathers as superfluous beings in families. The societal trend towards more father involvement has brought about more involvement in childcare but its impact on breastfeeding has not been acknowledged. Only through understanding the active role of the father in successful breastfeeding families can the health needs of all of the members of the family be served.

Further research is needed to gain complete understanding of the experience of men in breastfeeding families. It is expected the results from this study will form a basis for further study.

#### REFERENCES

Albers, R. M. (1981). Emotional support for the breastfeeding mother. Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing, 5, 109-124.

American Academy of Pediatrics. (1978). Breastfeeding. Pediatrics, 62, 591-601.

- Araji, S. K. 1977). Husbands' and wives' attitude-behavior congruence in family roles. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 39, 309-320.
- Artinian, B. (1986). The research process in grounded theory. In W. C. Chenitz & J.
  M. Swanson (Eds.), From practice to grounded theory (pp. 16-23). Menlo Park, CA: Addison-Wesley.
- Atwood, J. B., & Hinds, P. (1986). Heuristic heresay: Application of reliability and validity criteria to products of grounded theory. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 8, 135-154.
- Baranowski, J., Bee, D. E., Rassin, D. K., Richardson, J., Brown, J. P., Guenther, N., & Nader, P. R. (1983). Social support, social influence, ethnicity and the breastfeeding decision. Social Science and Medicine, 17, 1599-1611.
- Belsky, J., & Volling, B. L. (1987). Mothering, fathering and marital interaction in the family triad during infancy. In P.W. Berman & F. A. Pederson (Eds.), Men's transitions to parenthood: Longitudinal studies of early family experience (pp. 37-63).
  Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Beske, E. J., & Garvis, M.S. (1982). Important factors in breast-feeding success. Maternal Child Nursing, 7, 174-179.
- Bloom K., Goldbloom, R. B., Robinson, S. C., & Stevens, F. E. (1982). Factors affecting the continuance of breastfeeding. Acta Paediatrica Scandinavia Supplement, 300, 9-14.
- Blumer, H. (1969). Symbolic interaction: Perspective and method. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- Bogdan, R. C., & Biklen, S. K. (1982). Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theory and methods. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Bottorff, J. L. (1990). Persistence in breastfeeding: A phenomenological investigation. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 15, 201-209.
- Boyd, S. T., & Duncan, M. (1991, May). The father's parenting role within the family.Paper presented at the meeting of Second International Family Nursing Conference,Portland, OR.
- Broderick, C., & Smith, J. (1979). In W. R. Burr, R. Hill, F. I. Nye & I.L. Reiss (Eds.). Contemporary theories about the family: Grand theories/ theoretical orientations. New York: Free Press.
- Canadian Pediatric Society (1978). Breastfeeding: What is left besides the poetry? Canadian Source of Public Health, 69, 13-20.
- Chapman, L. (1991). Searching: Experience during labor and birth. Journal of Perinatal and Neonatal Nursing, 4,(4), 21-29.
- Chassé, M. (1990). Experiences of women who undergo hysterectomy. Unpublished masters thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada.
- Chenitz, W. C., & Swanson, J. M. (1986). Qualitative research using grounded theory.
  In W. C. Chenitz & J. M. Swanson (Eds.), From practice to grounded theory:
  Qualitative research in nursing. Menlo Park, CA: Addison-Wesley.
- Chenitz, W. C. (1986). Getting started: The research proposal for a grounded theory study. In W. C. Chenitz & J. M. Swanson (Eds.), From practice to grounded theory: Qualitative research in nursing (pp. 9-47). Menlo Park, CA: Addison-Wesley.
- Clarke-Stewart, K. A. (1980). The father's contribution to children's cognitive and social development in early childhood. In F. Pederson (Ed.), *The father-infant relationship*. New York: Prager.
- Colombotos, J. (1969). Personal versus telephone interviews: Effect and reponses. Public Health Reports, 84, 773-782.

- Corbin, J. (1986). Qualitative data analysis for grounded theory. In W. C. Chenitz & J. M. Swanson (Eds.), From practice to grounded theory: Qualitative research in nursing (pp. 91-101). Menlo Park, CA: Addison-Wesley.
- Cowan, C. P., & Cowan, P. A. (1987). Men's involvement in parenthood: Identifying the antecedents and understanding the barriers. In P. W. Berman & F. A. Pederson (Eds.), Men's transitions to parenthood: Longitudinal studies of early family experience. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Crinic, K., & Greenburg, M. (1987). Maternal stress, social support and coping:
  Influences on the early mother-infant relationship. In Zachariah Boukydis, C. F.
  (Ed.), Research on support for parents and infants in the postnatal period (pp. 25-40).
  Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Cronewett, L, R., & Kunst-Wilson, W. (1981). Stress, social support, and the transition to fatherhood. Nursing Research, 4, 196-201.
- Dickie, J. R. (1987). Interrelationships within mother-father-infant triad. In P. W. Berman & F. A. Pederson (Eds.), Men's transitions to parenthood: Longitudinal studies of early family experience (pp. 113-143). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Diers, D. (1979). Research in nursing practice. Philadelphia: J. B. Lippincott.
- Duffy, M. (1985). Designing nursing research: The qualitative-quantitative debate. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 10, 225-232.
- Dumas, M. A. (1991, February). A phenomenological investigation of the meaning of "being jealous" as experienced in fathers following the birth of their first child. A paper presented at the Qualitative Health Research Conference, Edmonton, Canada.
- Entwisle, D. R., & Doering, S. G. (1980). The first birth. Baltimore: John Hopkins University Press.
- Ewing, G., & Morse, J. M. (1989). Paradoxical priorities in breastfeeding research:
  Challenges for new directions. *The Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 6, (4), 24-28.

- Feinstein, J. M., Berkelhamer, J. E., Gruszka, M. E., Wong, C. A., & Carey, A. E. (1986). Factors related to early termination of breast-feeding in an urban population. *Pediatrics*, 78, 210-215.
- Festinger, L. (1964). Conflict, decision and dissonance. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Field, P. A., & Morse, J. M. (1985). Nursing research: The application of qualitative approaches. London: Croom Helm Ltd.
- Fieldhouse, P. (1984). A revival in breastfeeding. Canadian Journal of Public Health, 75, 128-132.
- Frank, E., Anderson, C., & Rubenstein, D. (1984). Marital role ideals and perception of marital role behavior in distressed and non-distressed couples. Journal of Marriage and Family Therapy, 6, 55-63.
- Ford, J. S., & Reutter, L. J. (1990). Ethical dilemmas associated with small samples. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 15, 187-191.
- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory. Chicago: Aldine.
- Glaser, B. G. (1978). Theoretical sensitivity: Advances in the methodology of grounded theory. Mill Valley, CA: Sociology Press.
- Goodine, L. A., & Fried, P. A. (1984). Infant feeding practices: Prenatal and postnatal factors affecting choice of method and duration of breastfeeding. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 75, 439-444.
- Goodwin, L. D., & Goodwin, W. L. (1984). Qualitative vs quantitative research or qualitative and quantitative research? Nursing Research, 33, 189-192.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1981). Effective evaluation. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Hanson, S., & Bozett, F. (1985). Dimensions of fatherhood. Beverley Hills, CA: Sage.

- Hewat, R. J., & Ellis, D. J. (1984). Breastfeeding as a maternal-child team effort: Women's perceptions. Health Care for Women International, 5, 437-452.
- Holcomb, H. R. (1989). Cognitive dissonance and skepticism. Journal for the Theory of Social Behavior, 19, 411-432.
- Horschild, A. (1990). The second shift: Working parents and the revolution at home. New York: Viking.
- Hotchner, T. (1979). Pregnancy and childbirth: The complete guide for new life. New York: Avon.
- House, J. S. (1981). Work stress and social support. Reading, MA: Addision-Wesley.
- House, J. S., & Kahn, R.L. (1985). Measures and concepts of social support. In S.Cohen & S. L. Syme (Eds.), Social support and health (pp. 83-108). New York:Academic.
- Huggins, K. (1986). The nursing mother's companion. Boston: Harvard Common Press.
- Hutchinson, S. (1986). Grounded theory: The method. In P. L. Munhall & C. J. Oiler (Eds.), Nursing research: A qualitative perspective (pp. 111-130). Toronto: Prentice-Hall.
- Janis, I. L., & Mann, L. (1977). Decision making: A psychological analysis of conflict, choice, and commitment. New York: The Free Press.
- Janofsky, A. I. (1971). Affective self-disclosure in telephone versus face to face interviews. Journal of Humanistic Psychology, 11, 93-103.
- Jordon, P. L. (1986). Breastfeeding as a risk factor for fathers. Journal of Obstetrical, Gynecological and Neonatal Nursing, 15, 94-97.
- Jordon, P. L. (1990). Laboring for relevance: Expectant and new fatherhood, Nursing Research, 39, 11-16.
- Kegeles, S. S., Fink, C. F., & Kirscht, J. P. (1969). Interviewing a national sample by long-distance telephone. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 33, 412-419.

Kitzinger, S. (1983). The experience of breastfeeding. New York: Penguin.

Kitzinger, S. (1985). Woman's experience of sex. New York: Viking: Penguin.

- La Leche League International (1987). The womanly art of breastfeeding. Franklin Park, IL: La Leche League International.
- Lamb, M., & Elster, A. (1985). Adolescent mother-infant-father interaction. Developmental Psychology, 21, 768-773.
- Lawrence, R. A. (1985). Breastfeeding: A guide for the medical profession. Toronto: Mosby.
- Le Compte, M. D., & Goetz, J. P. (1982). Problems of reliability and validity in ethnographic research. *Review of Education Research*, 52, 31-60.
- Leininger, M. (1985). Nature, rationale, and importance of qualitative research methods in nursing. In M. M. Leininger (Ed), *Qualitative research methods in nursing* (pp. 1-26). New York: Grune & Stratton.
- Lerner, H. E. (1979). Effects of the nursing mother-infant dyad on the family. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 49, 339-348.
- Lewis, C. (1986). Becoming a father. Oxford: Alden.
- Lynch, S. A., Koch, A. M., Hislop, G., & Goldman, A. J. (1986). Evaluating the effect of a breastfeeding consultant on the duration of breastfeeding. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 77, 190-195.
- Maclean, H. (1990). Women's experience of breastfeeding. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- May, K. A. (1980). A typology of detachment/involvement styles adopted during pregnancy by first-time expectant fathers. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 2, 441-461.
- May, K. (1982). The father as observer. MCN, 7, 319-322.

- May, K. A. (1989). Interview techniques in qualitative research: Concerns and challenges. In J. M. Morse (Ed.), *Qualitative nursing research: A contemporary dialogue* (pp 188-201). Rockville, MD: Aspen.
- McNally, E., Hendricks, S., & Horowitz, I. (1985). A look at breastfeeding trends in Canada. Canadian Journal of Public Health, 76, 101-107.
- Minchin, M. (1985). Breastfeeding matters: What we need to know about infant feeding. Alfredton, Australia: Alma Publications.
- Mishler, E. G. (1979). Meaning in context: Is there any other kind? Harvard Educational Review, 49, 7-19.
- Morse, J. M., & Harrison, M. J. (1987). Social coercion for weaning. Journal of Nurse-Midwifery, 32, 205-210.
- Morse, J. M., & Harrison, M. J. (1988). Patterns of mixed feeding. Midwifery, 4, 19-23.
- Morse, J. M., & Johnson, J. (1990). Understanding the illness experience. In J. M.
  Morse & J. L. Johnson (Eds.), The experience of illness: Dimensions of suffering.
  Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Morse, J. M. (1986). Qualitative and quantitative research: Issues in sampling. In P. Chinn (Ed.), Methodological issues in nursing, (pp. 181-193). Baltimore: Aspen.
- Morse, J. M. (1989). Strategies for sampling. In J. M. Morse (Ed.), Qualitative nursing research: A contemporary dialogue (pp 117-131). Rockville, MD: Aspen.
- Muenchow, S., & Bloom-Feshbach, A. (1982). The new fatherhood. Parents, 57 (2), 64-69.
- Myres, A. W., Watson, J., & Harrison, C. (1981). The National Breastfeeding Promotion Program. 1. Professional phase - A note on its development, distribution and impact. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 72, 307-311.
- Norris, J. R. (1986). The experience of mothers consenting for daughter's abortions. Uppublished master's thesis. University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada.

- Olds, S. B., London, M. L., & Ladewig, P. A. (1984). Maser Members nursing: A family-centred approach. Menlo Park, CA: Addison-Wesley.
- Parke, R. D., & Tinsley, B. J. (1987). Fathers as agents and recipients of support in the postnatal period. In C.F. Zachariah Boukydias (Ed.), Research on support for parents & infants in the postnatal period (pp. 85-113). Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Pederson, F. A. (1981). Father influences in a family context. In M. E. Lamb (Ed.), The role of the father in child development (2nd ed., pp. 295-317). New York: Wiley.
- Pleck, J. H. (1986). Fatherhood and the workplace. In M. E. Lamb (Ed). The father's role: Applied perspectives. New York: Wiley.
- Raphael, D. (1973). Breast-Feeding: The tender gift. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Reichardt, C. S. & Cook, T. D. (1979). Beyond qualitative versus quantitative methods. In C. S. Reichardt & T. D. Cook (Eds.), *Qualitative and quantitative methods in evaluation research*. (pp. 7-31). Beverly Hills: Sage.
- Richards, M. P. M. (1982). Breastfeeding and mother-child relationship. Acta Paediatrica Scandinavia Supplement, 299, 33-77.
- Riordan, J. (1983). A practical guide to breastfeeding. Toronto: C. V. Mosby.
- Rousseau, E. H., Lescop, J. N., Fontain, S., Lambert, J., & Roy, C. (1982). Influence of cultural and environmental factors on breast-feeding. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 127, 701-704.
- Sandelowski, M. (1986). The problem of rigor in qualitative research. Advances in Nursing Science, 8, 27-37.
- Scrimshaw, S. C. M., Engle, P. L., Arnold, L., & Hayes, K. (1987). Factors affecting breastfeeding among women of Mexican origin or descent in Los Angeles. American Journal of Public Health, 77, 467-470.

- Sears, W. (1986). Becoming a father: How to nurture and enjoy your family. Franklin Park, IL: La Leche League International.
- Stern, P. N. (1985). Using grounded theory method in nursing research. In M. M. Leininger (Ed.), Qualitative Research Methods in Nursing (pp. 149-160). Toronto: Grune & Stratton.
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990). Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory procedures and techniques. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Strauss, A. (1987). *Qualitative analysis for social scientists*. New York: Cambridge Press.
- Sullivan, J. C., & Jones, L. C. (1986). Breastfeeding adoption by low-income black women. *Health Care for Women International*, 7, 295-309.
- Swanson, J. M. (1986) Analyzing data for categories and description. In W. C. Chenitz & J. M. Swanson (Eds.), From practice to grounded theory: Qualitative research in nursing (pp. 121-132). Menlo Park, CA: Addison-Wesley.
- Sweeney, M. A., & Gulino, C. (1987). The health belief model as an explanation for breastfeeding practices in a Hispanic population. Advances in Nursing Science, 9(4), 35-50.
- Turner, B. A. (1981). Some practical aspects of qualitative data analysis: One way of organizing the cognitive processes associated with the generation of grounded theory. *Quality and Quantity*, 15, 225-247.
- Waletzky, L. R. (1979). Husbands' problems with breastfeeding. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 49, 349-352.
- Wilson, H. S., & Hutchinson, S. A. (1991). Triangulations of qualitative methods: Heideggerian hermeneutics and grounded theory. *Qualitative Health Research*, 1, 263-276.
- Wilson, H. S. (1977). Limited intrusion-social control of outsiders in a healing community. Nursing Research, 26, 103-111.

- Wilson, P. S. (1988). Living with chemotherapy: Husband's perceptions. Unpublished master's thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada.
- Woessner, C., Lawrers, J., & Bernard, B. (1987). Breastfeeding today: A mother's companion. Garden City Park, NY: Avery.
- Wright, L., & Leahey, M. (1984). Nurses and families: A guide to family assessment and intervention. Philadelphia: F. A. Davis.
- Yeung, D. L., Pennell, M. D., Leung, M., & Hall, J. (1986). Breastfeeding: Prevalence and influencing factors. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 72, 323-330.

## Preamble to Telephone Consent

Hi! My name is Diane Gamble. Thank you for responding to my request for fathers to call me.

I am interested in talking to fathers who have a 3 to 6 month breastfed infant that was born close to its due date and has been healthy. Would this describe your infant?

(Yes - proceed) (No - thank them for their interest)

In order to record that you have been informed adequately about this study, with your permission, I would like to tape this conversation. Is that all right with you?

Okay, let me explain the study. If you have any question, please stop me.

By talking to fathers I hope to gain an understanding of the experience of a man whose partner breastfeeds. Although you may not benefit directly from this study, the information you provide will assist nurses to care for other breastfeeding families.

# Consent to Participate in Research Study University of Alberta

This study is called Breastfeeding: The Male Perspective. If you decide to participate, you will be interviewed one to three times over the phone for up to one hour each time. I will be asking questions about you and your family. You can refuse to answer any question or stop the interview at any time.

I would like to tape record the interviews and then have a written record of our conversation made. Your name will be erased from the tape and will not be used on the written record. My supervisor, the typist and I will be the only persons who have access to the content of our discussions. The things you tell me will be used in a research project. Your name will not be mentioned in any way when the research is published.

At the end of the research the tapes will be erased. The written records will be kept for two years in a locked cabinet.

If you no longer wish to participate in the study you can withdraw without penalty, simply by stating your wish to do so.

If you wish, I will send you a summary of the results of the study.

Do you have any questions?

Do you have a pen and pencil handy?

Okay. I f you have questions at a later date, you may phone myself at 432-9192 or my supervisor, Dr. Jan Morse at 492-6250. Did you get those numbers?

Are you willing to participate in the study?

Would you like a report of the study upon its completion?

Yes

Address

No\_\_\_\_\_

Is this a convenient time to talk or can you suggest another time I could call back?

Date\_\_\_\_\_